
 
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

This meeting will be webcast and published on the Council’s website 

AGENDA      
 

 

 
Prayers will be conducted prior to the start of the meeting. 

Members are welcome to attend. 
 

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Council will be held in the Council 
Chamber - The Guildhall, Marshall's Yard, Gainsborough, DN21 2NA, , on Monday, 
8th April, 2024 at 7.00 pm, and your attendance at such meeting is hereby 
requested to transact the following business. 
 
To: Members of West Lindsey District Council 

 
 

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

2.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
To confirm and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of Full Council 
held on 4 March 2024. 
 
(PAGES 4 - 15) 
 

 

3.  MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members may make any declarations of interest at this point and may also make 
them at any point during the meeting. 
 
 
 

4.  MATTERS ARISING 
Setting out current position of previously agreed actions as at 27 March 2024. 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

5.  COUNCIL MATTERS ARISING 
(PAGES 16 - 19) 
 

 

6.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 
i) Chairman of Council 
ii) Leader of the Council 
iii) Chief Executive  

 
(VERBAL REPORT) 
 

 

7.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
Questions, if received, under this Scheme will be published by way of supplement 
following closure of the deadline. 
 
(TO FOLLOW) 
 

 

8.  QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 9 
Questions submitted by Members under Procedure Rule No.9 will be published 
by way of supplement following closure of the deadline. 
 
(TO FOLLOW) 
 

 

9.  MOTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 10 
No motions have been submitted for this meeting. 
 
 
 

 

10.  REPORTS FOR DETERMINATION 
 
 

a. Outcome of the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Deal Consultation Exercise 

(PAGES 20 - 101) 
 
 

b. Neighbourhood Plan Reviews - Scheme of Officer Delegation 

(PAGES 102 - 106) 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 
Ian Knowles 

Head of Paid Service 
The Guildhall 

Gainsborough 
 

Friday, 29 March 2024 
 
 
 



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

77 
 

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Minutes of the Meeting of Council held in the Council Chamber - The Guildhall, Marshall's 
Yard, Gainsborough, DN21 2NA on  4 March 2024 at 7.00 pm. 
 
 
Present: Councillor Stephen Bunney (Chairman) 

 Councillor Matthew Boles (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor Emma Bailey Councillor John Barrett 

Councillor Owen Bierley Councillor Trevor Bridgwood 

Councillor Mrs Jackie Brockway Councillor Liz Clews 

Councillor Frazer Brown Councillor Karen Carless 

Councillor Christopher Darcel Councillor David Dobbie 

Councillor Jacob Flear Councillor Ian Fleetwood 

Councillor Sabastian Hague Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan 

Councillor Paul Key Councillor Mrs Angela Lawrence 

Councillor Paul Lee Councillor Peter Morris 

Councillor Lynda Mullally Councillor Maureen Palmer 

Councillor Roger Patterson Councillor Roger Pilgrim 

Councillor Mrs Diana Rodgers Councillor Mrs Lesley Rollings 

Councillor Tom Smith Councillor Jim Snee 

Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee Councillor Paul Swift 

Councillor Baptiste Velan Councillor Moira Westley 

Councillor Trevor Young  

 
In Attendance:  
Ian Knowles Chief Executive 
Emma Foy Director of Corporate Services and Section 151 Officer 
Lisa Langdon Assistant Director for People and Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer  
Katie Storr Democratic Services & Elections Team Manager and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer  
 
 
Also Present: 4 members of the public 
 
Apologies Councillor Eve Bennett 

Councillor Adam Duguid 
Councillor Jeanette McGhee 

 
 
64 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
Having been proposed and seconded, it was: - 
 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of Full Council held on 22 January 2024 
be confirmed, approved and signed as a correct record. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

78 
 

 
 
65 MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were made at this point in the meeting. The Chairman reminded 
Members that they could make a declaration at any point in the meeting should they feel it 
necessary to do so. 
 
 
66 MATTERS ARISING 

 
The Chairman introduced the report advising Members that it would taken “as read” unless 
Members had any questions that they wished to raise. 
 
With no comments or questions, and with no requirement to vote, the matters arising were 
DULY NOTED. 
 
 
67 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Chairman  
 
The Chairman addressed the Council, referencing briefly some of the events which he had 
been involved and attended since Council last met, noting there had only been a five week 
period between each meeting.  
 
Starting with the sad occasion of attending at the funeral of the wife of the former Chairman 
of Council, held at the Lea Fields Crematorium. It had been a very moving ceremony, with 
several Council representatives their to support the former Chairman.  It was anticipated a 
celebration of life would be held in coming months.  
 
The Chairman had attended a number of business visits, focusing on those local businesses 
within the Visitor Economy sector and one in particular with environmental and climate 
credentials to be applauded. The first trip was to Wold Pines in Market Rasen, a high ropes 
experience which had been much fun and provided for a memorable video opportunity of the 
Chairman “having a go”.  He fully recommended the independent outdoor experience to be 
had at Wold Pines, especially for those with adventurous youngsters.    
 
Secondly the Chairman had visited Uncle Henry’s, receiving a tour of their tourist options 
and a fascinating talk on the company’s sustainability approach and their complete circular 
economy.   The Chairman indicated he would like all Members to have the opportunity, via 
way of Member presentation, to hear about the company’s approach which he considered 
typified the District’s aspirations in respect of managing the climate situation.   Again, he 
considered it a fascinating operation and well worth a visit.  
 
The final visit had been to Wright’s ice-cream parlour, a recipient of funding from one of the 
District Council’s Community Grants Scheme, which had provided for a play facility on site, 
not only for visitors to the Parlour, but which was also accessible to the local community free 
of charge.   
 

Page 5



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

79 
 

Finally, the Chairman referred to his attendance at the two-day APSE Climate Summat, 
highlighting a significant change in the expression been used when talking about such 
matters.  There had been less talk of dealing with climate change, but rather of climate 
adaption and preventative work. It had been a fascinating event, with a lot to take away and 
consider.  This area of work continued to be a focus for the Council and would continue long 
into the future.  
 
Leader 
  
The Leader made the following address to Council: - 
 

“Chairman, Members, welcome to tonight's meeting, I have three items to 
report to the Full Council and I will try and keep my announcements brief. So 
firstly, Lincoln University - myself and the Deputy Leader were delighted to 
attend an event held by Lincoln University.  Whilst we already have a good 
working relationship with the University, we are keen to build on this joint 
working, exploring opportunities to work with them on projects such as the 
step fusion project, with a long term aspiration to bring a University presence 
to the heart of West Lindsey.  
 
Savoy Cinema - we attended the Ground-breaking event. Despite significant 
increases in the construction costs, we are delighted to continue the support 
for the cinema project, in Gainsborough, these increases have impacted on 
the amount of Government funding, awarded as part of the Levelling-Up 
Programme, but despite these challenges, we are pleased that the Scheme 
has now begun.  I, along with other Members of the Council, attended the 
Ground-breaking event held last Friday and were delighted that the contract to 
build the Cinema was awarded to a local contractor and construction 
company, which will create and support employment opportunities for local 
people. The cinema is expected to be completed by Spring 2025. 
 
Finally, the weekly antique market - Following six months of planning and 
working with MH Antiques, we will be launching a weekly antiques market in 
Gainsborough from 30 March 2024. Delivering a vibrant town centre is a key 
priority for this Administration and this planned weekly event has already 
attracted some regional and national attention.  We have approximately 50 
traders booked in on 30 March and we welcome any Members who would like 
to volunteer on that day and encourage as many Members as possible to 
support the event.” 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 
The Chief Executive addressed Council and advised of his invitation to speak at a launch 
event for Technology One, the Council’s Finance system supplier, the previous Wednesday, 
where the future of technology in Local Government had been discussed. The event was to 
launch a study Technology One had undertaken with FT Longitude looking at the New 
Digital Reality for Local Government. 
 
Like the Leader, the Chief Executive had been really pleased to be part of the Ground- 

Page 6



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

80 
 

breaking ceremony for the Savoy Cinema on Friday of the previous week.  He too welcomed 
the contract having been awarded to a local firm the Gelder Group. He placed on records his 
extensive thanks to Sally Grindrod-Smith and her team for getting the Project to this stage 
and he looked forward to seeing the cinema emerge from the ground over the next 65 
weeks. 
 
It was with delight, that the Chief Executive announced that the Local Land Charges Team 
have been shortlisted for three awards in the 2024 Land Data Awards for Excellence. The 
Team had been nominated for Best Migrated Local Authority, Customer Satisfaction Award 
and Local Authority Searches Team of the Year.  
Thanks were expressed to Deborah Chapman and her Team for their hard work over the 
last two years, which had now been recognised nationally. 
 
Finally, the Chief Executive took the opportunity to remind Members of the fifth Illuminate 
event being held on Saturday 9 March.   Previous events had been attended by over two 
thousand people and the Chief Executive was of the belief this year would be no exception 
and hoped to see as many Members there as possible.  
 
This brought announcements to a conclusion. 
 
 
68 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

 
The Chairman advised the meeting that no public questions had been received. 
 
 
69 QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 9 

 
The Chairman advised the meeting that no questions had been submitted by Members 
under Council Procedure Rule No.9.  
 
 
70 MOTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 10 

 
The Chairman advised the meeting that one Motion had been submitted pursuant to Council 
Procedure Rule No. 10 and this was set out in the agenda.  
 
Councillor Brown was invited to put his Motion to the meeting as follows:- 

 
“The street cleansing team at West Lindsey have always done a fantastic job 
of keeping our streets clean and safe, however due to the increasing number 
of storms and occurrences of high winds, there is now far more debris in the 
roadside gutters than we used to get in the past. 
 
In Nettleham, and other rural areas outside of Gainsborough, many roadside 
gutters are thick with mud, twigs, leaves, and other debris.  After moderate 
rainfall this ends up in the drains and ultimately, they end up blocked.  After 
storms or heavy rainfall, this exacerbates flooding issues and has created 
flooding in areas where we wouldn’t normally expect it. 
 

Page 7



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

81 
 

West Lindsey currently has one HGV road sweeper operating on a 16-20 
week schedule to cover all of the towns and villages in the district.  An 
additional HGV road sweeper is hired in November and December to deal with 
Autumn leaf fall, but footways are not touched. 
 
Ad-hoc sweeping requests can be made to the street cleansing team, but the 
request-list extends the normal schedule, and where issues are caused by 
adverse weather events, the probability is that some wards could have to wait 
up to 5 months for road sweeping. 
 
If the kerbside debris is not removed quickly then many drains could become 
blocked. 
 
Given that we’re told to expect a higher frequency of adverse weather events 
over the coming years, and flooding effects so many of our wards, I feel that 
it’s important we do everything we can, within our remit, to try keep the drains 
clear. 
 
I therefore call upon this Council to support me in requesting that the 
Prosperous Communities Committee explore options to increase our 
road sweeping capability, including the feasibility and financial 
implications. 
 
I so move 
Councillor Frazer Brown” 
 

 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Brown and the motion was duly seconded.  
 
Members attention was drawn to Council Procedure Rule 10.4 “ if the subject of a motion 
comes within the remit of any committee(s), it shall, upon being moved and seconded, stand 
referred without discussion to such committee(s) for consideration and determination.  
 
The Chairman indicated, whilst he had some discretion, he would on this occasion be 
applying Rule 10.4 to which the meeting signified their contentment.  
 
As such the Chairman advised, the matter would stand referred for determination, the 
motion submitter would be invited to Prosperous Communities Committee, when the motion 
was considered and determined, and Council would be advised at their next meeting when 
this was anticipated to be.  
 
 
71 EXECUTIVE BUSINESS PLAN 2024/25 - 2026/27, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 

PLAN 2024/25 - 2028/29, COUNCIL TAX AND REVENUE BUDGET 2024/25 AND 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024/25 - 2028/29 
 

Members gave consideration to a report which presented the Executive Business Plan and 
the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2024/25 onwards.   
 
The Leader made the following budget speech to Council in presenting the report: - 

Page 8



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

82 
 

 
“As Leader of the Council, I am pleased to present the Budget for  
2024/25.   
 
I present this along with our Executive Business Plan and Medium Term 
Financial Plan, all of which contribute to achieving our vision of making West 
Lindsey a great place to live, where people, businesses and communities can 
thrive and reach their potential. 
 
Our communities have told us that certain things are important to them and we 
have endeavoured to address these issues when setting our priorities.  As a 
new Administration we have been able to include priority areas we feel will 
meet our vision for the District.  
 
We have approved the strategy to take legal action against the Home Office to 
protect investment, Economic Growth and Regeneration at RAF Scampton 
which will deliver £300m of investment and prosperity to the District.  We 
believe this project has the potential to transform our district, creating 
opportunities for employment in some of the most exciting 21st century 
industries.  We believe this project is worth fighting for. 
 
We aim to ensure that the investment brought in from the UK shared 
prosperity fund is maximised, with all its projects due to be completed on time. 
We have been committed to ensuring that the cinema project is supported and 
we are delighted that this project is now underway and look forward to it being 
completed early next year. 
 
Markets are a key priority for our towns.  When they flourish, we believe they 
add vibrancy to public spaces, provide opportunities for social interaction and 
support the retail sector in our town centres.  In Gainsborough we are keen 
that our market place with its market, is developed to become the centre of a 
thriving Independent quarter of the town.  
 
We aim to continue to grow our monthly farmers market and we are excited to 
announce that we will be starting a new weekly antiques market on the 30 
March. This will run through to October.  Our commitment to culture and 
heritage will continue. Enabling these priorities to flourish whilst our 
improvements to the market place are underway, will be a priority.  Going 
forward we will strive to develop successful partnerships around heritage, 
culture and the Arts and use these partnerships to increase opportunities for 
our communities and help revive our town centres.   
 
Increasing opportunities for participating in sport, leisure and cultural activities 
is a priority.   Over recent years we have seen a decline in opportunities 
available for residents of West Lindsey and we are keen to reverse this trend. 
We have included additional resources for sports and cultural development in 
this budget, with two new development officers to be recruited. We are 
working closely with our Leisure providers developing our programmes in 
Market Rasen and Gainsborough and we are beginning to explore options for 
our Leisure centre in Gainsborough, considering ways that we may be able to 

Page 9



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

83 
 

expand and improve this facility going forward. 
 
Ensuring the Council is meeting its new duties and obligations under the 2021 
Environment Act  is a key priority. The Council is preparing to deliver food 
waste collections across the District and has included funding for this within 
the capital programme. We have focused on enforcement and anti-social 
behaviour, increasing fines for fly tipping and we have increased the budget in 
this area to allow for two additional enforcement officers. 
 
We have expanded our award-winning waste collection service to offer 
households the opportunity to hire an extra-large, commercial sized bin for 
times when more capacity is needed creating an alternative to skip hire. We 
will be consulting with our residents on the green waste collection service to 
ensure this service best meets the needs of our communities. 
 
We are Investing in green technologies and have recently received over 
£400,000 to make our leisure centre in Gainsborough more energy efficient by 
investing in solar panels. 
 
Our services need to be as high performing as possible, and we are ensuring 
there is continuous learning and improvement throughout the organisation. 
This includes investing in a new customer contact system in 2024-25. We are 
investing in staff by training employees in the ‘West Lindsey Way’ and to 
ensuring staff are enabled and supported to be the best they can be. 
 
As part of the Community Grant Scheme delivered from funding from the UK 
government, alongside our own matched funding, we are awarding grants for 
projects across the district to improve our community spaces, places and the 
activities available to residents based on community demand. These include a 
play area refurbishment in Keelby, a new multi-use games area at the 
Benjamin Adlard School, Gainsborough which offers physical activities for the 
wider community. We are funding a refit of the toilets in Reepham and Cherry 
Willingham Village Hall to increase accessibility. We are also enabling solar 
panel projects in Nettleham and Toft Newton to improve the sustainability of 
community organisations and contribute to a net zero carbon West Lindsey.  
 
Funding is being provided for a new heritage project in Ingham and a project 
to provide a community space in the church in the village of Grayingham. In 
addition, we are supporting projects that are tackling issues that are affecting 
our residents such as a befriending service by Age UK. 
 
Members of the public will be very conscious that a large number of local 
authorities are struggling financially with the particular challenges and high 
costs that the energy crisis have thrown up and with the country slipping into 
recession, these challenges do not appear to be going away anytime soon. 
   
In the longer-term, Government funding may reduce but we are in a good 
place to meet any challenges from a sound financial position. 
   
We have been mindful that our residents expect us to be sensible with public 

Page 10



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

84 
 

money and at every turn we are fortunate to have the support of the very high 
level of financial expertise present in our senior officers and their teams and 
we thank them for this. 
 
The 2024/25 budget has been set to ensure we continue to provide award-
winning services, whilst investing for the future through the delivery of the 
capital programme. 
 
The 2024/25 Budget supports delivery of our Corporate Plan objectives, 
protects our award-winning services, improves our customers’ experience, 
delivers efficiencies and will continue to deliver value for money for the 
residents of West Lindsey. 
 
All of this is being delivered to the residents of West Lindsey for an average of 
£4.65 per week. 
 
I therefore commend these measures to Council and am delighted to propose 
the recommendations” 
 

The Leader of the Opposition, in responding, indicated their Groups shared common 
ground.  On the whole the Opposition were supportive of the matters raised in the Leader’s 
budget speech and welcomed that projects created under the former Administration were 
being continued.  News of the cinema completion, and local investment in local businesses 
were welcomed.  Regards Scampton and the approved stance, again these measures were 
fully supported.   The Leader of the Opposition offered similar praise to the Officers, for their 
expertise and efforts in creating a balanced budget in these difficult times.  However, he 
sought to propose an amendment to the budget in respect of the proposed increased 
investment into sport and cultural officers.  Providing context for this amendment, he spoke 
of delivering West Lindsey’s core business functions, referencing the motion earlier in the 
meeting, relating to a desire to increase capacity in street cleansing, kerb cleaning and 
footway cleaning.  The Opposition were of the belief that a good percentage of the growth 
fund could be allocated into street cleansing to afford all residents of West Lindsey, a 
cleaner environment, to work in and to live in.  
 
It was suggested that focusing on sport and culture, would not provide District wide benefits 
to all residents, whereas if additional funding was added to street cleansing, all residents 
would benefit. The reserve earmarked for sports and culture he believed to be circa £100k. 
The Leader of the Opposition did take the opportunity to commend all Officers of the Council 
and acknowledged the award winning service offered by operational services, and as such 
was of the view that further investment into that service would enable the Council and its 
officers to continue to deliver high quality core service functions.  
 
With clarity having been sought by the Section 151 Officer, for the avoidance of doubt, the 
Opposition Group Leader confirmed his amendment related to the £112,000 set aside in 
Member-led growth for two officers and the desire that this be re-allocated to street 
cleansing budget,  to reflect the increase demand on the service brought about by increased 
flooding events in the District and heavier than normal rainfall.   
 
As such the Opposition Leader proposed the following amendment: -  
 

Page 11



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

85 
 

“that £112,000 allocated in Member-led growth for two officers be moved to 
the street cleansing budget”  

 
The amendment was duly seconded and debate of the amendment ensued.  
 
The Deputy Leader of the Administration expressed her disappointment in the amendment. 
Services and opportunities in sports, arts, culture and leisure had reduced in recent years 
and under the former Administration, the new administration wished to reverse this trend.  
Arts Sports Culture and Leisure were an important factor in making a place.  The wider 
benefits to mental health and wellbeing of a good offer in such facilities was also well 
documented and proven. These proposed Officers would assist the Council in being able to 
attract funding once again, make best use of the numerous village hall facilities that existed 
across the District, help communities grow their current activities and attract those national 
bodies in Sports Development.    
 
It was agreed the Council’s street cleansing and refuse service was amongst the most 
valued by residents and performed excellent. It was suggested this should not be viewed as 
an either or proposal.  The motion around increasing resources in the street cleansing would 
progress and if financially feasible would be considered for implementation, it was also 
suggested that other responsible agencies should fulfil their duties and current issues were 
due to a lack of investment by other bodies for numerous years. She urged the Chamber 
that improving and increasing the wider sports culture leisure offer should not be rejected in 
favour of an increased street cleansing budget.  
 
Opposition Members believed the amendment ensured District Wide benefits, which would 
not be achieved by funding such Officers.   Suggesting the benefits would only be to those 
living in Gainsborough and the surrounding area. It was further suggested that cleaner 
streets and preventing homes from flooding would be a greater priority to residents. 
 
There was political exchange regarding the reason for drains and sewerage systems failing 
and whose responsibility that was, as well as political exchange regarding the recent history 
of sports development in the District and what had led to its reduction.   
 
Reference was made to the Cultural Strategy work ongoing , the opportunities it would 
afford and how these Officers would enable that work to be delivered. It was suggested the 
amendment would undermine the aspirations and desires of that emerging Strategy which 
had been awaited. Administration Members spoke of their desire to re-invigorate previous 
events in the District and spoke of how other authorities had managed to maintain their arts 
sports, culture and leisure offer. 
 
Differing views were expressed about the real impact such Officers would have, while 
counter arguments were made regarding the impact £100k street cleansing would have on 
flooding.  
 
With further political exchanges, and counter challenges over statements previously made 
during the debate, in the absence of new points, the amendment was put to the vote.   This 
being a recorded vote in line with legislative requirements, votes were cast as set out below 
: - 
 
For: - Councillors Barrett, Bierley, Bridgwood, Brockway, Brown, Fleetwood, Lawrence, Lee, 

Page 12



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

86 
 

Morris, Palmer, Patterson, Pilgrim, Rodgers, and Smith (14) 
 
Against: - Councillors Bailey, Boles, Bunney, Carless, Clews, Darcel, Dobbie, Flear, Hague, 
Howitt-Cowan, Key, Mullally, Rollings, J Snee, M Snee, Swift, Velan, Westley and Young 
(19) 
 
Abstain: - No Votes (0)  
 
With a total of 14 votes for and 19 against the amendment was declared LOST. 
 
Further debate ensued in which Members from across all sides of the Chamber reflected on 
the significant financial challenges Local Government as a sector faced and were proud to 
be able to have a balanced budget whilst still seeking to improve and extend services. It 
was suggested by the Opposition their commercial investment strategy had been significant 
in generating income and reducing reliance on reducing government grant.  
 
Officers were applauded for their assistance, advice and expertise.  Arising from two 
questions it was confirmed projected income from all sources for 2024/2025 was circa 
£43million.  Officers undertook to provide the total income for the current year outside of the 
meeting, given it was not to hand.  Officers also explained financial regulations, noting that 
revenue money could be spent to fund either revenue or capital items.  Capital monies – for 
example monies generated through sales of assets could not be used to fund revenue 
services (day to day costs).  
 
Bringing the debate and comments to a close and having had the recommendations, as set 
out in the report, moved and seconded, they were put to the vote. In accordance with 
required legislation for voting on the Council’s budget, a recorded vote was taken. 
 
Votes were cast as set out below:  
 
For: - Councillors Bailey, Barrett, Bierley, Boles, Bridgwood, Brockway, Brown, Bunney, 
Carless, Clews, Darcel, Dobbie, Flear, Fleetwood, Hague, Howitt-Cowan, Key, Lawrence, 
Lee, Morris, Mullally, Palmer, Patterson, Pilgrim, Rodgers, Rollings, Smith, J Snee, M Snee, 
Swift, Velan, Westley and Young (33) 
 
Against: - No Votes (0) 
 
Abstain: - No Votes (0)  
 
With no Councillors voting against the proposals, the recommendations were declared 
CARRIED unanimously and on that basis it was:- 
 

RESOLVED that: - 
 

(a)  Members recognise the external environment and the financial challenges 
which the Council could face in the medium to longer term depending on 
future government policy;  

 
(b) the Statement of the Director of Corporate Services (Section 151 officer) 

on the Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves at paragraph 

Page 13



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

87 
 

1.10 be accepted;  
 
(c)  the Medium Term Financial Plan 2024/25 to 2028/29  be approved with 

an awareness of the risks associated with it, as detailed at Appendix 2; 
 
(d) the formal Council tax resolution as detailed in Appendix 8, be approved, 

this being a band D equivalent amount of £241.55;  
 
(e) the Revenue budget 2024/25 detailed at paragraph 1.4 be approved; 
 
(f)  the movement in earmarked reserves detailed at paragraph 1.6 be 

approved; 
 
(g) the level of fees and charges for 2024/25 as detailed at Appendix 3 be 

approved;  
 
(h) the Capital Investment Strategy at Appendix 4 be approved;  
 
(i)  the Capital Programme 2024/25 – 2028/29 and financing detailed at 

Appendices 5 and 6 be approved 
 
(j) the Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 be approved and the 

Treasury Investment Strategy, the Borrowing Strategy and the Treasury 
and Borrowing Prudential Indicators detailed at Appendix 7 be adopted;  

 
(k)  the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy as contained in the 

Treasury Management Strategy at Appendix 7 be approved; . 
 
(l) the 2024/25 Pay Policy Statement and Human Resources statement at 

Appendices 13 and 14 be approved;  
 
(m)  the introduction of a new Markets fee and charge for operators who 

deliver between eight and twenty five stalls on a specialist market be 
approved at a charge of £10 per stall and the age range for Young 
Traders be changed to 16 – 30, to align with National Market Trader 
Federation guidelines;  and  

 
(n) Corporate Policy and Resources committee be delegated to approve any 

changes to existing Fees and Charge required during the year, after the 
budget has been set. 

 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.16 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 14



West Lindsey District Council -  4 March 2024 
 

88 
 

 

Page 15



   

Council Matters Arising Schedule                                                         
 
Purpose: 
To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Council meetings. 
Recommendation: That members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary. 
 
Matters arising Schedule 
 

Meeting Full Council     

      
Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated 

To 

Black Motion to 
Council - 
referred to PC - 
Review of Side 
Waste Policy  

Council to be advised of when Motion is 
to be considered and outcome.  
 
Motion submitter to be invited to the 
meeting.   
 
Motion is on the PC Cttee Agenda for 19 
March 2024.  
 
The outcome will be reported through 
Council Matters arising for information 
only.  
 
  

Councillor Key's Motion from Council on 6 
November : - 
I urge members to support me in requesting 
that the Prosperous Communities Committee 
commits to formally reviewing the side waste 
policy within the 2023/24 financial year to 
ensure that the policy is in line with the 
Council’s commitment to reduce carbon 
emissions from its fleet of vehicles.  
was deferred to PC Cttee without debate with 
Council to be advised on when it would 
considered and the outcome.     
 
Motion has now been considered and a 
further report will be submitted to PC Cttee 
in line with resolution made  

21/03/24 Ele Snow 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 5



   

Black Motion to 
Council - 
flooding 
resources  

Letter to be issued in line with motion 
passed  namely : - 
 
This Council asks the Chief Executive, 
Chairman and Leader of The Council to 
write to the Chief Executive, Leader of 
Lincolnshire County Council, Chairman 
of Lincolnshire County Council’s Flood 
and Water Management Scrutiny Group 
and 
DEFRA endorsing the decision by LCC 
at their December 1st 2023 Meeting to 
set up an enhanced water management 
partnership to strengthen the County’s 
flood resilience, adaptions and 
management of the water management 
system and also to lobby for extra 
funding from Central Government to 
ensure this partnership and member 
agencies have sufficient resources to 
carry out this essential mitigating work 

Letters have been issued 23/02/24 Ady Selby 

Black Devolution - 
consultation 
response and 
future reports  

Formal consultation response to be 
issued in line with resolution made on 
22/1/24 namely: 
 
Council  Delegates the submission of a 
Council response to the consultation to 
the Chief Executive following 
consultation with the Leader in line with 
paragraph 3.5 and comments expressed 
during the debate  
 
Future reports to be submitted as follows: 
- Council to Receive a further report on 
completion of the consultation process. 
- officers prepare a report and 
recommendations on the 
establishment of a Joint Committee for 
district councils, for presentation to 
Corporate Policy and Resources 
Committee in March 2024 with a final 
report to an appropriate Full Council 

Consultation response has been submitted 
Joint Cttee report is programmed into CPR 
Workplan for March.  
 
Council to receive close of consultation 
report at March 2024 meeting - this has been 
amended to April 2024, update awaited from 
upper tiers re outcome 

30/04/24 Ian 
Knowles 

P
age 17



   

Meeting. 

Green Public 
Participation 
Schemes - 
Review of  

AGM Mtg 23/5/23 
When considering the Annual Review of 
Constitution, the Leader advised the 
Administration would wish to undertake a 
fundamental review of the participation 
schemes in year 
 
Scope and time line of this work to be 
discussed with Administration  

Initial conversation to be held at Chairs Brief 
as to how the Group would like to proceed  

On hold Katie Storr 

Green members 
allowances 
24/25 

following approval of new scheme at 
Council in Jan 24 Statutory notices to be 
prepared notify the decision made.  
 
New scheme be published by 1 April 
when rates become effective  

Notice completed. 
 
new scheme programme to published on 1 
April  

01/04/24 Katie Storr 

Green Motion to 
Council - 
explore options 
to increase our 
road sweeping 
capability, 
including the 
feasibility and 
financial 
implications. 

Council to be advised when the motion is 
to be considered and outcome of Motion 
- Outcome will be reported through 
Council matters arising for information  

I therefore call upon this Council to support 
me in requesting that the Prosperous 
Communities Committee explore options to 
increase our road sweeping capability, 
including the feasibility and financial 
implications. - Motion was referred with out 
debate. 

01/05/24 Ady Selby 

Green Motion - 
Lobbying of 
LNER  

Please undertake action to fulfil Council 
resolution below.  
 
Please outline what action has been 
taken.  

Extract from Mins of Mtg 6 /11/23 -  
 RESOLVED unanimously that the District 
Council lobby LNER, seeking support from 
all statutory partners, to assess the viability 
of Barnetby being included in the direct run 
from Cleethorpes, passing through Market 
Rasen, to London. –  
 
 

Officers are arranging a meeting with LNER 
to obtain the latest details of the potential 
new Cleethorpes to London service. This 
includes understanding which stations will 
and will not be included as stopping points. 

Revised 
31/05/24 

Grant 
White 

P
age 18



   

Once this is clarified officers will establish a 
lobbying strategy as required. 
 

 

P
age 19



 
 
 
 

 
Chair's Briefing - Council 

Monday, 25 March 2024 

 

     
Subject: Outcome of the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Deal 

Consultation Exercise 
 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Chief Executive 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Ian Knowles 
Chief Executive 
 
ian.knowles@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

 To present the findings of the consultation 
exercise and to highlight the proposed 
amendments to the Greater Lincolnshire 
Devolution Deal as a result of these findings.  

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
That Council: 
 

1. Note the findings of the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution consultation 
exercise; 
 

2. Note the proposed amendments to the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution 
Deal, which have been approved by the three constituent authorities;  
 

3. Continues to engage with the implementation of devolution 
arrangements.    

 

 

Page 20

Agenda Item 10a



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

The devolution proposal will create a Mayoral County Combined Authority (MCCA) as included 
in the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023. MCCAs are a new model of devolution 
introduced through this Act to reflect specific governance arrangements of areas with two-tier 
government.  

District and Borough Councils do not sign off the MCCA as this is the responsibility of the three 
constituent councils (these being Lincolnshire County Council, North Lincolnshire Council and 
North East Lincolnshire Council). A level three devolution deal does not change the current 
structure of local government in Lincolnshire.  

It is proposed that district councils will create a Joint Committee. To appoint four district leaders 
to the MCCA, and to act as a forum for district councils to consider matters connected to the 
functional competence of the MCCA. There will be opportunities for district councils to appoint 
members to serve on the MCCA itself, a scrutiny panel, and several advisory boards establish 
to further partnership governance in areas linked to the functional competence of the MCCA.  

 

Financial : FIN/5/25/SL 

There are no financial implications arising from this report. Devolution will bring the opportunity 
to make the case for additional funding for projects within West Lindsey, to accelerate delivery 
of the council’s vision and priorities for the district.  

The devolution agreement does not commit the Council to financial liabilities, and the 
agreement requires the Mayoral Combined Authority to secure Council approval before it 
implements projects in the district which could create ongoing financial commitments.  

 

Staffing : 

There are no staffing implications arising from this report. Officers linked to priorities for 
economic development, development management, housing strategy, and services linked to the 
environment, climate action, heath and wellbeing may be involved in partnership groups and 
project collaboration, as they are currently.  

The infrastructure required to manage the district contribution to the MCCA may require 
additional resources of a central nature to coordinate activity but this has not currently been 
determined. If any such requirement cannot be contained withing existing budget, members will 
be advised.  

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

Not applicable in the context of this report.  

 

Data Protection Implications : 

There are no data protection implications arising from this report.  

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: 

Not applicable in the context of this report.  

 Page 21



Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report, however, it is worth noting 
that in some devolved arrangements, the role of the Police and Crime Commissioner has been 
abolished and the powers and duties of the PCC have been transferred to the Mayor. This is nor 
the case for Greater Lincolnshire and, under the current proposals, the role of the Lincolnshire 
Police and Crime Commissioner will remain unaffected by the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution 
Deal.   

 

Health Implications: 

There are no health implications arising from this report.  

 

Page 22



Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report : 

1. Levelling Up White Paper 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Rep
ort%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf  
 

2. LCC Report on Devolution 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Rep
ort%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf  

 

3. Devolution Agreement for Greater Lincolnshire 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59997/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20devolution%20deal.pdf  

 

4. Devolution Proposal – Final 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59998/Appendix%20B%20-
%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20Combined%20Authority%20Proposal%20final.pdf  

 

5. Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal Consultation 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59999/Appendix%20C%20-
%20Devolution%20Questionnaire.pdf  

 

6. Devolution for Greater Lincolnshire – Report to Council, 22nd January 2024 
https://democracy.sharedlincs.net/documents/g3395/Public%20reports%20pack%2022
nd-Jan-2024%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1  

 

7. Greater Lincolnshire Devolution – Consideration of Public Consultation Outcomes and 
Submission of Final Proposal to the Secretary of State (LCC) 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%20
13th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10  

 

8. Greater Lincolnshire Devolution – consideration of the results of the recent public 
consultation and review of the devolution proposal (NE Lincs) 
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%20
13th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10  

 

9. Greater Lincolnshire Devolution – Consideration of Public Consultation Outcomes and 
Submission of Final Proposal to the Secretary of State (N Lincs) 
https://northlincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18358/Greater%20Lincolnshire%
20Devolution.pdf  

 

Risk Assessment :   

The devolution proposal does not introduce risk to the delivery of WLDC services or priorities, nor 
does it introduce legislative, regulatory or reporting requirements that impact delivery of council 
services.  

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  Page 23

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Report%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Report%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Report%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60018/Devolution%20Council%20Report%20With%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59997/Appendix%20A%20-%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20devolution%20deal.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59997/Appendix%20A%20-%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20devolution%20deal.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59998/Appendix%20B%20-%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20Combined%20Authority%20Proposal%20final.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59998/Appendix%20B%20-%20Greater%20Lincolnshire%20Combined%20Authority%20Proposal%20final.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59999/Appendix%20C%20-%20Devolution%20Questionnaire.pdf
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59999/Appendix%20C%20-%20Devolution%20Questionnaire.pdf
https://democracy.sharedlincs.net/documents/g3395/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Jan-2024%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
https://democracy.sharedlincs.net/documents/g3395/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Jan-2024%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://northlincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18358/Greater%20Lincolnshire%20Devolution.pdf
https://northlincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s18358/Greater%20Lincolnshire%20Devolution.pdf


Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes   No x  

  

Page 24



 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 On 22nd November 2023, the UK Government announced a devolution 

deal for Greater Lincolnshire. The proposed deal was subsequently 
agreed at Full Council meetings of the three constituent authorities, 
these being Lincolnshire County Council, North Lincolnshire Council and 
North-East Lincolnshire Council.  

 
1.2 Following agreement to proceed with a devolution deal, the proposals 

were subject to a period of public consultation in the form of an online 
survey which was open to anybody living in, working in, or visiting 
Lincolnshire. The survey was led by Lincolnshire County Council and 
closed on 29th January 2024. WLDC promoted the survey on its website, 
on social media channels, and internally with staff and members. This 
report presents the high-level consultation findings for consideration. Full 
analysis can be found at Appendix A.  
 

1.3 In March 2024, the three constituent authorities presented amendments 
to the proposal which reflected some of the findings of the consultation. 
These amendments were approved at each authority’s respective Full 
Council meeting. This report also outlines the amendments for members 
consideration. 
 

2 Background to the Consultation 
 
2.1 Between 4th December 2023 and 29th January 2024, the three 

constituent councils undertook statutory consultation on the proposal to 
establish the Greater Lincolnshire Combined Authority across 
Lincolnshire, North Lincolnshire and North-East Lincolnshire. Alma 
Economics were appointed to support the constituent councils in 
undertaking the consultation, the approach to which was deemed to be 
consistent with other recent devolution consultation exercises.  
 

2.2 The consultation took the form of an online survey, which was hosted 
through the “Let’s Talk Lincolnshire” consultation platform. A copy of 
the proposed deal, what it would mean for the area, and a list of 
benefits were also included on the platform for context.  
 

2.3 The consultation was led by LCC and was promoted using a broad 
range of social media and traditional channels, including printed copies 
which were made available in locations across the area. Consultation 
events were also held in 22 locations, including business networking 
events and meetings with 31 community groups.  
 

2.4 In total, 4,101 responses were received, which exceeded the 
constituent authorities target of 2,000. This represents a response rate 
of 0.31% relative to the total population of 1.1 million people in the 
Greater Lincolnshire area.  
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

3 Findings of the Consultation 
 

3.1 The survey asked questions on six key strands: Jobs and Business 
Growth, Education and Training, Roads, Buses and Transport, Homes 
and Communities, Environment and Governance. Overall, the results 
showed broad support for four of the strands; whilst two of the strands, 
Homes and Communities and Governance were endorsed by fewer 
than 50% of respondents (48% and 38% respectively)..  
 

3.2 A summary of the headline results for each of the six strands can be 
seen in the infographic below: 
 
 

 
 

3.3 Additionally, respondents were able to record free-text comments for 
each of the strands. A selection of these can be viewed as part of the 
full analysis in Appendix A (Qualitative Insights).  

3.4 It is possible to drill down into some of the statistical data to gain a 
better understanding of West Lindsey specific responses. The results, 
shown in full in the table below, reveal that support is higher than the 
average across all themes, as follows: new jobs and business growth 
(56%), education and training (59%), roads, buses and transport 
(60%), homes and communities (53%), the environment (62%) and 
governance (43%).  
 

3.5 The table below breaks down the West Lindsey responses for each of 
the questions asked in the consultation, with the questions being “to 
what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to…?” 
The response rate for West Lindsey is approximately 0.4%, and for 
each of the six questions, West Lindsey ranked third highest of all 
Lincolnshire authorities in terms of support for the proposals. A full 
breakdown of responses for each of the Lincolnshire local authorities 
can be found within Appendix A for information.  
 

Page 26



 

Devolution 
Theme 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
agree, 
nor 
disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

Total 
Responses 

New Jobs & 
Business 
Growth 

113 
(25%) 

140 
(31%) 

55  
(12%) 

47  
(10%) 

85  
(19%) 

11 
(2%) 

351 

Education & 
Training 

130 
(29%) 

137 
(30%) 

46 (10%) 56 (12%) 72 (16%) 10 
(2%) 

451 

Roads, 
Buses & 
Transport 

7  
(35%) 

115 
(25%) 

41  
(9%) 

41  
(9%) 

84  
(19%) 

12 
(3%) 

300 

Homes & 
Communities 

105 
(23%) 

135 
(30% 

54  
(12%) 

57  
(13%) 

88  
(19%) 

14 
3%) 

453 

Environment 140  
31%) 

138 
(31%) 

45 
(10%) 

41  
(9%) 

75  
(17%) 

13 
(3%) 

452 

 
4 Amendments to the Proposed Devolution Deal 
 
4.1 Following consideration of the consultation responses, the original draft 

proposal has been amended to take account of the views expressed. 
These amendments were endorsed at Full Council meetings of the 
three constituent authorities in March 2024. Copies of each Full 
Council report can be viewed via links 7, 8 and 9 in the “title and 
background papers” section of the covering page of this report. The 
amendments to the Proposal are listed below for members 
consideration: 

 

 Enhanced arrangements for scrutiny and accountability 
including the adoption of a best practice scrutiny protocol to 
ensure greater oversight and transparency. 
 

 Further clarity in the Proposal on the potential benefits of 
devolution for different parts of the Greater Lincolnshire 
geography and opportunities to work with other areas. 
  

 Update to reflect changes to the government’s devolution 
framework and the introduction of a level 4 offer.  

 

 Recognition that growth will require both the right infrastructure 
and services.  

 

 Addition of a summary of the consultation informing the 
development of the Proposal.  

 

 Updates to the ‘Creating a Combined Authority’ section and 
next steps to reflect progress through the process and duration 
of the proposed transition period for transport powers.  

 
4.2 Next Steps 

 
4.3 The amended final proposal will now be submitted to the Secretary of 

State for consideration and final decision. A copy of the amended 
proposal can be viewed here (within Appendix B).   

Page 27

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8837/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Mar-2024%2010.30%20Council.pdf?T=10


 

 
4.4 Following submission, the Secretary of State will assess the Proposal 

against a number of statutory tests before deciding whether to accept 
the proposal. It is the considered view of the three constituent 
authorities that the Proposal contains the necessary information to 
enable the Secretary of State to conclude that the tests have been met.  
 

4.5 As resolved by this Council, WLDC officers prepared a report and 
recommendations on the establishment of a Joint Committee for district 
councils, which was presented to Corporate Policy and Resources 
Committee in March 2024. A final report will be presented to an 
appropriate Full Council meeting.  

Page 28



    
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

alma economics cf 

Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal

Page 1 of 73

Consultation analysis on the 
Greater Lincolnshire Devolution  
Proposal  

Prepared for Lincolnshire  County Council, North Lincolnshire  
Council, and North East Lincolnshire Council  

March 2024 

Page 29



    
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    
    

   

alma economics d 

Lincolnshir~ 
COUNTY COUNCIL /L_ \ £..h,N 

Wor~ for a, berrer / ~ - -

North 
Lincolnshire 

Council NQS,~ 
EAS ~ 
LINCOLNS H IR E 
COUNCIL 

Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal

Page 1 of 73

About the authors 

Alma Economics combines unparalleled analytical expertise 
with the ability to communicate complex ideas clearly. 

www.almaeconomics.com 

About the commissioning organisations 

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk www.northlincs.gov.uk www.nelincs.gov.uk 

This independent analysis was commissioned by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), North 
Lincolnshire Council (NLC), and North East Lincolnshire Council (NELC). The analysis and findings are 
those of the authors and do not represent the views of LCC, NLC, and NELC. 

Page 30

http://www.almaeconomics.com/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/
https://www.northlincs.gov.uk/
http://www.nelincs.gov.uk/


    

  

   
   

    
   

  
   

   
   

    
   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   
   
   

  
   
   
   
   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Table of Contents 

Executive summary............................................................................................................................1 

Research approach ...........................................................................................................................4 

Overview of responses received.....................................................................................................4 

Methodology ..................................................................................................................................6 

Limitations .....................................................................................................................................7 

New jobs and business growth...........................................................................................................9 

Education and training .....................................................................................................................12 

Roads, buses and transport .............................................................................................................16 

Homes and communities .................................................................................................................19 

Environment ....................................................................................................................................22 

Governance.....................................................................................................................................25 

Additional themes ............................................................................................................................29 

Themes of support .......................................................................................................................29 

Themes of suggestions.................................................................................................................30 

Themes of concerns.....................................................................................................................33 

Equalities impact assessment ..........................................................................................................37 

Appendix A......................................................................................................................................40 

Appendix B......................................................................................................................................43 

Appendix C .....................................................................................................................................49 

Appendix D......................................................................................................................................55 

Appendix E......................................................................................................................................61 

Appendix F ......................................................................................................................................64 

Appendix G .....................................................................................................................................66 

Appendix H......................................................................................................................................68 

Page 31



    
 

   

 

    
 

  
 

 

     
   

 
    

 
   

 

   
   

 
    

 

 
 

    
   

    
 

 

    
    

 
 

  
    

   
  

   
      

    
     

  
  

   
 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Executive summary 

The UK Government’s 2022 Levelling Up strategy pledges to offer devolution to every interested 
region by 2030. This commitment reflects a continuation of the devolution of powers to local 
governments within England since 2014. Mayoral devolution is now expected to extend to a further 
seven regions between 2024 and 2025, joining areas such as Liverpool City Region, West Midlands, 
and Greater Manchester. 

In November 2023, Greater Lincolnshire’s devolution deal and draft proposal were announced and 
published. The deal, amounting to around £750 million of planned investment, intends to bring 
decision-making closer to the local residents, businesses, and communities of Greater Lincolnshire. 
The deal was accompanied by a draft devolution proposal which centres around the creation of a new 
combined county authority (CCA), chaired by an elected official (the ‘mayor’), and formed in 
partnership between Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), North East Lincolnshire Council (NELC) and 
North Lincolnshire Council (NLC). 

If the new CCA is approved, the proposal is envisaged to result in more tailored and effective 
policymaking which better accounts for Greater Lincolnshire’s needs and priorities. In practice, it aims 
to achieve greater economic prosperity, more effective public services, and improved partnerships 
with local people, communities, and businesses. It is also anticipated to bring greater influence and 
profile locally, nationally, and globally to the region. 

Consultation on Greater Lincolnshire’s Devolution 
Proposal 
Prior to finalising and deciding whether to submit the proposal to the Secretary of State, the three 
councils have sought the views of residents, businesses, and wider stakeholders through a public 
consultation. The consultation process is a key element of policymaking, ensuring that the views, 
knowledge, experiences, and ideas of all those affected by new policies and regulations can be 
considered and incorporated. 

This consultation, open for eight weeks between 4th December 2023 to 29th January 2024, posed 
questions on the proposal’s six areas of focus: (i) new jobs and business growth; (ii) education and 
training; (iii) roads, buses and transport; (iv) homes and communities; (v) environment; and (vi) 
governance, as well as capturing general views on the proposal. 

The results will inform Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), North East Lincolnshire Council (NELC), 
and North Lincolnshire Council (NLC)’s immediate next steps concerning the proposal, including 
whether to: (i) continue with devolution based on an amended proposal; (ii) seek alternative devolution 
arrangements; or (iii) discontinue devolution. 

The consultation was accompanied by several documents available to the public. These included the 
full devolution proposal, an executive summary (also available in easy read format or accessible 
through a screen reader), devolution FAQs, and drop-in sessions with local councils. A summary of 
wider stakeholder engagement and publicity is available in Appendix H. 

Alma Economics, an independent research consultancy, was commissioned by the three councils to 
analyse and present the data gathered in the consultation. This report is a balanced and impartial 
presentation of the analysis, ensuring that the full spectrum of views is presented. The report will first 
discuss the research approach, including an overview of responses received, its methodology and 

1 Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greater-lincolnshire-devolution-deal-2023


    

 
  

 

 
     

    
 

     
    

   

 
 

         
    

      

   
 

      
       

   

 

       
  

    

    
    

   
   

    

 

       
   

    
 

 

 

  
  

    
 

      
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

limitations, before presenting the results from the six quantitative (closed-text) consultation questions, 
one qualitative (open-text) consultation question, and the equalities impact assessment. 

Summary of respondent characteristics 
The consultation received 4,101 responses. Relative to its total population of 1.1 million, Greater 
Lincolnshire has therefore achieved the highest response rate across recent devolution consultations 
(0.31%).1 The majority of responses (95%, 3,887 respondents) were submitted through the online 
survey, while 214 responses (5%) were received directly via email, post (including easy read 
versions), or telephone survey. The responses can be broken down by respondent type as follows: (i) 
3,844 responses were received from individuals; (ii) 157 respondents answered on behalf, or as a 
representative, of a business or organisation; and (iii) 100 did not specify whether they were 
responding as an individual or on behalf of a business or an organisation. 

Summary of consultation responses 
New jobs and business growth 

• A total of 4,013 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
53% of individuals, 56% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 64% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the full report. 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified four distinct themes related to this 
area of focus. These discussed strengthening industrial and agricultural capabilities, 
addressing the risks posed by artificial intelligence for jobs, increasing support for local 
businesses, and developing year-round tourist attractions. The themes are presented in detail 
in the report below. 

Education and training 

• A total of 4,008 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
56% of individuals, 65% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 70% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the report. 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified five distinct themes related to this area 
of focus. Respondents discussed school curricula, increasing the provision of career support 
for adults and young people, increasing opportunities for skills development, enhancing adult 
education provision, and improving Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
provision.2 These themes are presented in detail in the report. 

Roads, buses and transport 

• A total of 4,017 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
56% of individuals, 67% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 73% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the report 
below. 

1 For the purpose of comparison, the Tees valley combined authority received 2,000 responses relative to a population of 670,000 (0.30%). 
North Yorkshire received 1,971 responses from its population of 800,000 (0.25%) and the East Midlands consultation received 4,869 
responses relative to a population of 2,2 million (0.22%). Other consultations such as West Yorkshire, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, as 
well as the West of England received lower response rates (<0.19%). 
2 It is recognised that SEND provision was outside the scope of the devolution proposal. This summary reflects responses submitted to the 
consultation which included this theme. 

2 Page 33



    

  
  

    
      

 

       
     

  

 
      

     
     

  

 

        
  

   

   
   

     
    

 

       
  

   

   
      

      
    

  

      
    

 
    

  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified five distinct themes related to this area 
of focus. Responses discussed expanding public transport within Lincolnshire, improving 
roads, upgrading cycle lanes, improving transport links with other UK cities, and focusing on 
green energy solutions. These themes are presented in detail in the report. 

Homes and communities 

• A total of 4,010 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
48% of individuals, 64% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 58% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the report. 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified five distinct themes related to this area 
of focus. Responses discussed town centre regeneration, developing public infrastructure and 
amenities, addressing social housing, repurposing old properties and empty buildings, and 
introducing restrictions on second-home ownership and lettings. These themes are presented 
in detail in the report. 

Environment 

• A total of 4,008 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
56% of individuals, 67% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 67% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the report. 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified four distinct themes related to this 
area of focus. These discussed increasing the use of renewable energy, enhancing climate 
change measures, increasing conservation measures, and protecting greenfield sites. These 
themes are presented in detail in the report. 

Governance 

• A total of 4,019 responses were received for this question. The proposal was endorsed by 
38% of individuals, 56% of those responding on behalf of businesses, and 58% of those 
responding on behalf of local government. Further breakdowns are discussed in the report. 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified four distinct themes related to this 
area of focus. These discussed support for one centralised authority and reducing tiers of 
government, as well as suggestions regarding the mayor and elected officials. These themes 
are presented in detail in the report. 

Additional themes 

• Thematic analysis of the open-text responses identified ten overarching themes which 
encapsulated general views expressed about the draft proposal and its six areas of focus. 
These have been grouped under three categories: ‘themes of support; ‘themes of 
suggestions’; and ‘themes of concerns’. A detailed description of each individual theme is 
included in the report below. 

3 Page 34



    

 
    

    
    

  

        
  

     
 

   

      

     

    

    

     

      

Submission type Count Share 

Online survey 3,887 95% 

Postal response 162 4% 

Email response 51 1% 

Telephone survey 1 0% 

All respondents 4,101 100% 

 
     

    

   

 
       

 

 

       
   

      
   

     
    

  

    

       
 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Research approach 

Overview of responses received 
The consultation remained open for submissions from 4th December 2023 to 29th January 2024 and 
received a total of 4,101 responses.3,4 Respondents were not required to answer all questions, 
resulting in varying response totals across the seven consultation questions. Response totals for each 
individual question are specified throughout the report. 

The majority of responses (95%, 3,887 respondents) were submitted through the online survey, while 
214 responses (5%) were received directly via email, post, or telephone survey. Of the total responses 
received, one email response was excluded due to duplication and two separate email submissions 
were combined into one record. 

Table 1. Source of responses received 

Responses can be broken down by respondent type as follows: (i) 3,844 responses were received 
from individuals, accounting for 96% of total responses; and (ii) 157 (4%) of responses were 
submitted on behalf, or as a representative, of a business or organisation.5 

Figure 1. Responses by respondent type 

96% 

4% 
0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

I am a member of the public, giving my views as I am responding on behalf, or as a 
an individual representative, of a business or organisation 

Of those selecting ‘business or organisation’, 55 submissions (35%) indicated that they represented a 
‘business’ when asked to select the sector that best describes their group or organisation. The second 

3 Late postal and email responses were accepted until 5th February 2024. Since the 6th February 2024, another 3 responses were received 
which could no longer be considered for analysis. 
4 Relative to its total population of 1.1 million, Greater Lincolnshire has therefore achieved the highest response rate across all recent 
devolution consultations (0.31%). For the purpose of comparison, the Tees valley combines authority received 2,000 responses relative to a 
population of 670,000 (0.30%). North Yorkshire received 1,971 responses from its population of 800,000 (0.25%) and the East Midlands 
consultation received 4,869 responses relative to a population of 2,2 million (0.22%). Other consultations such as West Yorkshire, 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, as well as the West of England received lower response rates (<0.19%). 
5 A further 100 respondents did not specify whether they were responding as an individual or on behalf of a business or an organisation. 

4 Page 35



    

        
  

  
      
    

   

     

 

      
       

    
    

  

    

 

    
     

 

     

 

 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

most frequent detailed respondent type for this question was ‘local government’ with 22% selecting 
this category, followed by ‘voluntary and community sector’ (12%), ‘academic’ (7%), ‘elected 
representative’ (7%), and ‘charity’ (6%). ‘Transport’ and ‘civil service or government’ each 
represented 3% of total respondents, and 2% of respondents selected ‘action group’. In total, 3% of 
respondents to this question preferred not to disclose their organisational respondent type. A 
complete breakdown of responses by respondent and sector type can be found in Appendix B. 

Figure 2. Responses by sector type 

Share of respondents 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 

Business 

Local government 

Voluntary and community sector 

Academic 

Elected representative 

Charity 

Transport 

Prefer not to say 

Civil service or government 

Action group 

35% 

22% 

12% 

7% 

7% 

6% 

3% 

3% 

3% 

2% 

All respondents were also given the option to indicate their constituent council area, enabling trends 
across regions to be identified. A total of 3,980 responses were received to this question. In order of 
frequency, the representation of each area was as follows: Lincolnshire County (64%), North 
Lincolnshire Council (20%), and North East Lincolnshire Council (16%). A detailed breakdown of 
responses by area can be found in Appendix C. 

Figure 3. Responses by local authority area6 

64% 

20% 16% 

0% 
0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

S
h

ar
e 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

d
en

ts
 

Lincolnshire County North Lincolnshire North East No information 
Lincolnshire provided 

Moreover, respondents were asked to select their age group. Of the 3,811 responses to this question, 
2% of respondents were under 18, 4% respondents were between 18-24, 6% were between 25-34, 

6 ‘No information provided’ was noted in the response data as ‘Redacted’. 

5 Page 36



    

      
 

  

    

 

  
   

    
  

 
      

    
  

   
   

    
  

 

   
   

  
    

 

 

   
     

       
   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

10% were 35-44, 15% were 45-54, 21% were 55-64, 22% were 65-74, and 11% were 75 or above. 
In total, 10% of respondents preferred not to disclose their age group. A complete breakdown of 
responses by age group can be found in Appendix D. 

Figure 4. Responses by age group 

Share of respondents 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 

Under 18 

18-24 

25-34 

35-44 

45-54 

55-64 

65-74 

75+ 

Prefer not to say 

No information provided 

2% 

4% 

6% 

10% 

15% 

21% 

22% 

11% 

10% 

0% 

Finally, respondents were asked to disclose their disability status. A total of 3,788 responses were 
received for this question. The majority of respondents (2,748, or 73%) did not have a disability, whilst 
646 (17%) did disclose a disability and 394 (10%) preferred not to disclose their disability status. A 
detailed breakdown of responses by disability status can be found in Appendix E. 

Methodology 
The consultation questionnaire consisted of the seven core consultation questions, as well as a set of 
demographic questions (including respondent type and, if applicable, organisation type, local authority 
area, age, and disability status). 

The main consultation questions included: (i) six quantitative questions in the form of a six-point 
attitude scale (Strongly agree/ Agree/ Neither agree, nor disagree/ Disagree/ Strongly disagree/ Don’t 
know), and (ii) one qualitative, open-text question for respondents to provide comments or views 
about the Greater Lincolnshire devolution proposal.7 No limits were set on text length for this question. 
All survey and email responses received were analysed in full. 

All responses were merged into one dataset for analysis. Quantitative questions were analysed via 
data cleaning and analysis in the programming language Python. The following report presents 
descriptive breakdowns for each quantitative question as well as graphs or tables. High-level findings 
from demographic segmentation analysis are also discussed for each closed-text question. Complete 
breakdowns and segmentations for each question can be found in Appendices A to D. Percentages 
were rounded to the nearest whole number and can therefore sum up to more than 100%. 

7 This approach is consistent with other recent devolution consultations. For example, the East Midlands consultation similarly set out the 
proposed changes, followed by Likert scale questions (Strongly agree – Agree – Neither agree nor disagree – Disagree – Strongly disagree – 
Don’t know) in the areas of (i) Governance, (ii) Homes, (iii) Skills, (iv) Transport, (v) Reducing Carbon/Net Zero, (vi) Pubic Health, as well as a 
final open-text question to provide comments. For reference, see East Midlands Combined Authority Devolution Deal Consultation, 2023. 

6 Page 37

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s145902/Appendix%203%20-%20Nottinghamshire%20Derbyshire%20Devolution%20Ipsos%20Consultation%20Report%20V7_.pdf


    

 

  

 
  

 
  

    
  

  
 

   
 

   

 
     

 

  

 
 

  
   

      
   

  

     
  

    
  

  

 
   

 
 

       
     

     
 

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Furthermore, a thematic analysis of the qualitative, open-text responses was conducted to identify and 
report common patterns and themes in the responses. This thematic analysis followed the approach 
suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006), structured as follows: 

1. Manually reviewing free-text responses to highlight patterns/recurring themes as well as 
identify ideas or perspectives not raised in other responses. 

2. Mapping the qualitative themes to the open-text question and developing a narrative 
description for each theme. 

3. Triangulating themes and assessing their substantive significance based on the frequency of 
convergence/divergence of perspectives. 

4. Identifying informative outlier responses that do not fit in with the general emerging themes 
and analysing patterns of non-responses or grievances voiced. 

A total of 900 randomly selected survey responses were manually analysed in full, in addition to all 
email responses, to create a thematic codebook. The remaining survey responses were analysed 
using a bespoke automation tool which was repeatedly trained, calibrated, and quality-assured by the 
team to ensure consistency with the codebook. Central points and opinions raised in emailed 
consultation responses did not differ substantially from those raised in responses submitted via the 
online survey, therefore no distinction was made between submission types when discussing the 
findings. Each qualitative theme is illustrated by quotes from respondents to convey the narrative 
around respondents’ views. Quotes were corrected in cases of identifiable personal information, typos, 
and missing punctuation. 

The main body follows the consultation order of questions, namely: (i) new jobs and business growth; 
(ii) education and training; (iii) roads, buses and transport; (iv) homes and communities; (v) 
environment; (vi) governance; and (vii) additional themes. Each individual section, excluding the 
additional themes, includes discussions on both the quantitative and qualitative insights relevant to 
that question. All overarching qualitative findings not directly related to an area of focus are grouped in 
order of frequency under ‘additional themes’. This section is divided into three thematic sections: (i) 
themes of support; (ii) themes of suggestions; and (iii) themes of concern. 

For the purpose of this report, respondent types and response options for each quantitative question 
have been aggregated within the main body. Detailed breakdowns of both are available in the 
Appendix. For detailed respondent types, these were grouped within four categories: (i) ‘individuals’; 
(ii) ‘businesses’; (iii) ‘local government’; and (iv) ‘others’ (encompassing all remaining organisational 
respondent type categories). Response options were grouped within three categories as follows: (i) 
‘agree’ includes both ‘strongly agree’ and 'agree’; (ii) ‘disagree’ includes both ‘strongly disagree’ and 
‘disagree’; and (iii) 'neutral or don’t know’ includes both ‘neither agree, nor disagree and ‘don’t know’. 
Aggregations were arranged for visual ease and to ensure results were easily accessible. 

Limitations 
Consultations are a valuable tool to gather the opinions and expertise of relevant stakeholders. 
However, it is important to note that this report summarises the views of only those who chose to 
participate in this consultation. Among an estimated 1.1 million residents within Greater Lincolnshire, a 
total of 4,101 individuals, businesses and organisations expressed their views. Those who did choose 
to participate are more likely to represent an engaged subset of the population or to consider 
themselves more affected by the proposal. This sub-group of the population are therefore more 
motivated to voice specific views or grievances. 

7 Page 38



    

   
    

   
  

  
 

  
  

  

   
 

 
   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Moreover, whilst in the six closed-text questions respondents were prompted by bounded answer 
options, the open-text question asked for general views on the proposal and allowed for self-selection. 
Respondents were free to submit responses of any length and on any aspect of the consultation; 
consequently, longer responses were likely to raise areas of concern and may result in a 
disproportionately negative tone. It should furthermore be noted that the consultation received a 
higher level of engagement among individuals above the age of 45 years. Relative to Greater 
Lincolnshire’s population, a smaller share of younger individuals below the age of 34 responded to the 
consultation which should be considered when interpreting response patterns. Further details of age 
breakdowns can be found in Appendix D. 

For example, across all respondents, 70% answered the open-text question. In contrast, 87% of those 
respondents who disagreed strongly with the proposal (answering all six quantitative questions with 
“Strongly disagree”) answered the open-text question. The themes included below should therefore 
be understood as indicative rather than representative of the wider population. 

8 Page 39



    

  

 

 
 
 

  

 
  

   

   

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
      

  
       

      
  

  
     

      
    

  
  

  

  

 

 

     

  
   

  

     

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

New jobs and business growth 

Consultation question 18 

The proposal, if adopted, would see decisions for infrastructure and economic growth projects in 
Greater Lincolnshire being taken locally. This would see some funding transferred to the area with 
investment locally prioritised to boost growth in key sectors of the local economy, including the UK 
Food Valley, Energy, Ports and logistics. 

We believe that this will stimulate trade and economic growth, creating high skill jobs and improve 
living standards. The proposal includes: 

• an investment fund of £24 million per annum over 30 years, worth £720m, which could 
speed up economic growth and innovation, and create opportunities for people, 
businesses, and communities. 

• a UK Food Valley Board to support the sector and attract new skills to deliver food chain 
automation and innovation. 

Section 3 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and 
business growth? 

Quantitative insights 
A total of 4,013 responses were received for this question.9 Of these, 3,826 respondents were 
submitted by individuals, 54 replied on behalf of a business, 33 replied on behalf of local government, 
and 70 replied as ‘other’ categories. 30 responses were received from respondents who did not 
indicate their respondent type. Across responses, 53% agreed with the proposals relating to new jobs 
and business growth, 32% disagreed, and 15% did not know or were neutral. 

Across all respondent categories, the majority of respondents agreed with the proposals. Compared 
to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ expressed the highest levels of agreement 
(73%) with the proposals, and the lowest level of both disagreement (17%) and uncertainty or 
neutrality10 (10%). Those replying on behalf of local government showed the second highest levels of 
agreement (64%), followed by those replying on behalf of businesses (56%), and individuals (53%). 
Compared to other respondent categories, those replying as individuals and on behalf of businesses 
were both most likely to disagree with the proposals (33% each). 

8 All consultation questions presented in this report are presented as in the online consultation survey. 
9 The following breakdowns by respondent type are based on those respondents having indicated both their answer to respective consultation 
questions as well as their respondent type at any level. Given some respondents did not indicate their respondent type, they are not included in 
the chart below and the total number of respondents is marginally lower. 
10 Uncertainty and neutrality refer to ‘Neutral or don’t know’ responses throughout the report. 

9 Page 40

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

 

    

 
 

 
  

     
         

      
     

  

  

   
    

  
   

 
    

   
       

   

  
 

 

   

 

   
  

  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

S
h

ar
e 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

d
en

ts
 

100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

53% 56% 
64% 

73% 

33% 33% 

21% 
17%15% 

11% 
15% 

10% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 
Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,983 total respondents11 

When considering respondent age group, the majority of almost all age groups agreed with the 
proposal. Respondents under 18 were most likely to agree with the proposals (78%), followed by 
those aged between 18-24 (68%) and those aged between 25-34 (66%). Those aged between 45-54 
expressed the lowest level of agreement (48%) compared to other respondent groups. Furthermore, 
when considering disability, no significant difference was observed between those who reported a 
disability and those who reported no disability. For example, 56% of those with no disability agreed 
with the proposal (compared to 53% of those reporting a disability), 31% disagreed (compared to 
30% of those reporting a disability), and 14% did not know or were neutral (compared to 17% of those 
reporting a disability). 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (67%), followed by City of Lincoln (62%) and West Lindsey District (56%). Compared to 
other local authority areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (29%). 
Complete tables detailing the segmentations are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Qualitative insights 
Calls for strengthening industrial and agricultural 
capabilities 
Respondents called to strengthen industrial and agricultural capabilities owing to their significance. 
More support for the agricultural sector was also highlighted by respondents. The agricultural sector in 
Lincolnshire was deemed very important and therefore emphasised as a priority area for current and 
future policies. 

“Development of new industrial growth is welcomed but the funding should prioritise the steel 
industry in Scunthorpe.” 

“Lincolnshire is underestimated and has huge potential, especially with the ports (sea and air), 
renewable energy, universities, agriculture. These are just a few of our big selling points!” 

11 The results for graphs in all six questions are aggregated as follows: ‘agree’ includes both ‘strongly agree’ and ‘agree’; ‘disagree’ includes 
both ‘strongly disagree’ and ‘disagree’; ‘neutral or don’t know’ includes both ‘neither agree, nor disagree’ and ‘don’t know’. Category ‘others’ 
includes all remaining respondent types detailed on page 6. 

10 Page 41



    

  
 

    
     

       
      

    

 
 

  
   

  
 

  
    

       
 

    

  

  
 

     
    

   

  
 

 

  
  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Address risk of artificial intelligence on low- and medium-
skilled jobs 
Referencing the ‘New jobs and business growth’ section of the proposal, respondents used the open-
text question to raise concerns around the impact of artificial intelligence on low and medium skilled 
jobs. They mentioned the risk that artificial intelligence could displace workers in low and medium 
skilled jobs. Responses recommended that there should be government assistance to help facilitate 
their transition to new employment. 

“The growth of (A)rtificial (I)ntelligence is predicted to remove around 60% of the current 
offering of low and medium skilled jobs in the next two or three decades. It is important these 
displaced workers do not languish, overburdening the welfare state. It is neither possible or 
desirable to train everyone to take a high skilled job, after all, not everyone wants the 
responsibility of a high skilled job but that lack of desire shouldn't exclude anyone from work 
and it is the job of local, regional and national government to provide suitable work for 
everyone that needs to work.” 

Calls for increased support for local businesses 
Respondents called for increased support for local businesses. It was suggested that additional 
funding should be used to achieve large-scale changes applicable to local businesses such as 
lowering high business rates or rental costs. This was contrasted to investment in multiple smaller 
projects which were seen to have less impact. 

“A good opportunity to support local businesses. Use the extra funding to do something 
transformational, not lots of little projects.” 

Develop all-year tourist options to boost economic activity 
Respondents suggested that all-year tourist options should be developed to increase economic 
activities. Respondents highlighted a diverse range of touristic options including hotels, holiday 
resorts, amusement parks, caravan parks and chalets. They propose that tourist facilities should be 
located near main transport links, such as airports and train networks, to maximise accessibility. 

“Look at more permanent all year tourist options. Casino hotels or resorts? Waterparks? Either 
at the airports or beside the current train lines?” 

“Holiday resorts should be open all year round to boost the economy and bring visitors to the 
area to help people with caravans and chalets plus hotels and guest houses benefit from the 
tourism industry.” 

11 Page 42



    

 

 

  
  

 
  

  

 
   

 
  

  
  

  
   

    
  

  
 

  
  

 
    

     
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

   
  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Education and training 

Consultation question 2 

The proposal, if adopted, will mean all the funding government spends on adult skills and training 
in Greater Lincolnshire will be controlled and allocated locally. 

If we have local control, we can work more closely with schools, colleges, universities, training 
providers and businesses. 

The proposal details how doing this means in Greater Lincolnshire we could: 

• develop work-focussed curriculums which give people access to the training local 
businesses need. 

• support residents to identify career opportunities and train or re-train so they have the 
skills they need to get good local jobs. 

• better meet local business needs by making sure Lincolnshire residents are equipped to 
take up exciting, new, skilled jobs. 

• encourage and provide mentoring, funding and other resources for entrepreneurs and 
small businesses. 

• work with public bodies in Greater Lincolnshire to support young people leaving care to 
achieve a positive start to their careers and adult life. 

Section 3 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and 
training? 

Quantitative insights 
Question 2 received 4,008 responses. Of these, 3,822 respondents were individuals, 55 replied on 
behalf of a business, 33 replied on behalf of local government, and 69 replied as ‘other’ categories. 29 
responses were received from respondents who did not indicate their respondent type. Across 
responses, 57% agreed with the proposals relating to education and training, 31% disagreed, and 
12% did not know or were neutral. 

Across all respondent categories, the majority of respondents agreed with the proposals. Compared 
to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ showed the highest levels of agreement with 
the proposal (84%). This was followed by those replying on behalf of local government (70%), those 
replying on behalf of businesses (65%), and individuals (56%). Compared to other respondent 
categories, individuals disagreed most frequently (32%) and were most uncertain or neutral about the 
proposals (13%). 

12 Page 43

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

 

   

 
   

    
  

   
    

   
   

    

  
  

   
    

  
     

      
   

  
         

 

 
  

 

   
   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

100% 
S

h
ar

e 
o

f r
es

p
o

n
d

en
ts

 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

56% 

65% 
70% 

84% 

32% 31% 

18% 

10%13% 

4% 

12% 
6% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 

Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,979 total respondents 

When considering respondent age group, the majority of all respondents agreed with the proposal. 
Respondents aged under 18 and between 35-44 most frequently agreed with this question (69%), 
closely followed by those aged between 25-34 (67%) and those aged between 18-24 (63%). 
Respondents aged between 65-74 expressed the lowest level of agreement (52%) in comparison to 
other age groups. Furthermore, when considering disability, no significant differences were observed 
between those who reported a disability and those who reported no disability. For example, 59% of 
those with no disability agreed with the proposal (compared to 56% of those reporting a disability), 
30% disagreed (compared to 29% of those reporting a disability), and 12% did not know or were 
neutral (compared to 14% of those reporting a disability). 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposal (67%), followed by City of Lincoln (64%) and North Lincolnshire (60%). Compared to other 
local authority areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (33%). 
Complete tables detailing the segmentations discussed above are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Qualitative insights 
Reduce emphasis on work-focused curriculums 
Respondents called to reduce the proposal’s emphasis on work-focussed school curriculums.12 They 
expressed concerns about whether school and college curriculums were aligned to the needs of 
employers. It was felt that this focus came at the expense of a more well-rounded education that 
would increase opportunities for young people. In response, respondents called for a broader 
curriculum. They emphasised that music and the arts should receive more focus in students’ 
education. 

“Concerned that school and college curriculums, by being more aligned to local industry 
needs, could stifle opportunities for students to develop themselves and their interests”. 

12 It should be recognised that the education curriculum of schools remains outside the scope of the devolution proposal. The theme is 
included given the number of respondents having raised it in their free-text responses. 

13 Page 44



    

 
  

      
  

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

   
 

  
 

  

   
   

      
      

      

  
 

 

  
  

 
  

      
  

      
    

          

  
   

  
 

 

 
  

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Support for increased provision of career information, 
advice and guidance for adults and young people 
Respondents expressed approval for the increased provision of career information, advice, and 
guidance for adults and young people. Through providing professional help and opportunities, this 
service would aim to equip individuals with the necessary skillset for jobs across Lincolnshire. Other 
suggestions included guidance for college applications alongside more support for individuals who 
encounter challenges during their time at college or university. Apprenticeships were also 
recommended. 

“I think investments should be made specifically in Careers guidance services to bridge the 
gap between unskilled and unemployed. Apprenticeships identified for this age group. 
Assistance given to apply for college and guidance given when they struggle at 
college/university.” 

“It is important that strategic priorities encompass ways to raise aspirations of residents and 
outline achievable pathways for people living in poverty (inclusive of homelessness) to raise 
their personal economic and wellbeing status. This should include practical avenues to gain 
permanent employment, and supportive guidance when it comes to parental and wider social 
responsibility.” 

Support for increased skills development for young people 
Respondents also encouraged investment into increased skills development for young people. For 
example, some respondents specifically called for an increased focus on automation and 
mechanisation or the development of creative skills for the media and music sector. Respondents also 
called for more education and training for jobs in the health and social care sector. 

“The skills section needs more focus on automation and mechanisation, plus upskilling of the 
existing workforce.” 

“In terms of building skills capacity within the county i don’t believe sufficient focus has been 
placed on supporting local youngsters to access careers within the health and social care sector.“ 

Support for affordable adult education provision 
Respondents expressed support for affordable adult education provision. Some respondents 
highlighted adults who were neglected by the current education system and would therefore benefit 
from further tuition in English and maths. Others proposed that modern languages should be 
incorporated into adult education courses. This was seen as particularly important for adults learning 
English as a second language. Respondents strongly emphasised that adult education courses should 
remain affordable, ensuring that the cost of courses does not form a barrier to pursuing education. 

“I am fed up not being able to do any GCSE or A levels, yes I am 81 but did not receive an 
education I should have, so want to complete now. It has been my dream since 11 years of 
age. But cannot afford fees.” 

“I think the adult education section would really benefit from languages. Previously we had a 
really good record in the past with accessing lessons in multiple languages and now i am 
unable to find a single lesson/class on languages for adults including one of the most common 
spoken ones 'Spanish'. We are wanting to become a more multicultural town and i think this 
could be really beneficial.” 

14 Page 45



    

 
  

     
     

      

 

 
 

  

 

  
   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Support for increasing Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) provision13 

Respondents called to increase SEND provision. They expressed concerns that SEND provision in 
Lincolnshire was currently not meeting the needs of SEND pupils. This was seen as having a 
significant impact on the quality of education amongst SEND pupils whilst increasing pressure on staff. 

“Provision and support for SEND pupils is seeing a decline from agencies across the board - I 
have lost count of the times I've heard Local Government preach about how they are 
committed to providing best outcomes for SEND. These pupils are being failed along with the 
schools and staff that are picking up the pieces.” 

13 It should be recognised that Special Educational Needs and Disability support remains outside the scope of the devolution proposal. The 
theme is included given the number of respondents having raised it in their free-text responses. 

15 Page 46



    

 

 

 
 

  

 
   

 
  

  

    

    

    

   

  
  

  

  
 

   
   

 
      

   
   

    
   

  
  

 
  

  
  

 

 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Roads, buses and transport 

Consultation question 3 

The proposal, if adopted, means the mayor and Greater Lincolnshire leaders could use their 
knowledge of the area to design a local transport plan which we believe would create better 
integrated road, rail and air travel for people, businesses and goods. 

This could include improved walking and cycling options for residents, visitors and businesses and 
with the money and decision-making local, we believe the plan is more likely to become a reality. 

The proposal includes plans for the combined county authority to become the local transport 
authority and address the matters residents tell us are important to them, for example: 

• more affordable travel. 

• smart tickets on public transport to make moving around Greater Lincolnshire easier. 

• more reliable journeys, supported by investment in key routes across the area. 

• connecting people of all ages to family, friends, work, education, health, and leisure facilities. 

• improvement to transport in rural areas and improved services for rail passengers and freight. 

The proposal includes a multi–year transport budget that provides greater funding certainty to 
deliver local priorities, boost growth in the Greater Lincolnshire economy and keep people 
moving. 

Section 3 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and 
transport? 

Quantitative insights 
In total, 4,017 responses were received for this question. Of these, 3,831 respondents were 
individuals, 55 replied on behalf of a business, 33 replied on behalf of local government, and 71 replied 
as ‘other’ categories. 27 responses were received from respondents who did not indicate their 
respondent type. Across responses, 57% agreed with the proposals relating to roads, buses and 
transport, 33% disagreed, and 10% did not know or were neutral. 

Across all respondent categories, the majority of respondents agreed with the proposals. Compared 
to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ showed the highest levels of agreement 
(77%), closely followed by those replying on behalf of local government (73%), those replying on 
behalf of businesses (67%), and individuals (56%). Of respondents that disagreed with the proposals, 
individuals were the most frequent (34%), whilst individuals and ‘others’ showed slightly greater 
uncertainty or neutrality compared to other groups (10%). 

16 Page 47

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

 

    

    
  

   
   

    
     

  
     

  
 

    
    

  
  

 
 

  
   

   

  
 

  
 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

100% 
S

h
ar

e 
o

f r
es

p
o

n
d

en
ts

 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

56% 

67% 
73% 

77% 

34% 

24% 21% 

13%10% 9% 
6% 

10% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 

Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,990 total respondents 

When considering respondent age group, the majority of respondents agreed with the proposal. 
Respondents under 18 agreed the most with the proposals (69%). This was closely followed by those 
aged between 25-34 and 35-44 (68% each), and those aged between 18-24. Of all age groups, those 
aged between 65-75 agreed least frequently (53%). Furthermore, when considering disability, no 
significant differences were observed between those who reported a disability and those who reported 
no disability. For example, 59% of those with no disability agreed with the proposal (compared to 58% 
of those that reported a disability), 31% disagreed (compared to 32% of those reporting a disability), 
and 10% did not know or were neutral among both groups. 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (67%), followed by City of Lincoln (63%) and North Lincolnshire (61%). Compared to other 
local authority areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (31%). 
Complete tables detailing the segmentations discussed above are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Qualitative insights 
Calls for affordable, reliable, and expanded public transport 
within Lincolnshire 
Respondents called for more affordable, reliable, and expanded public transport within Lincolnshire. 
This was particularly important within rurally dispersed communities. Respondents emphasised the 
importance of improvements to the bus service, calling for more reliable buses with longer running 
times. To further improve the service, other respondents called for multiple bus operators in each town 
or city to drive competition, thus improving their efficiency and reliability. 

“The main point in all this for me personally is the transport system, i.e. buses, I live in Burgh 
and there used to be a service up to 11pm years ago now it's more like 7pm which doesn't 
help those who work past this time, some even have to get other transport into Skegness 
first.” 

17 Page 48



    

   

 
  

   

 
  

 

 
 

  

   
    

 
 

  

  
  

 

  
  

  

  
 

 
  

     

  
      

  
    

 
  

   

 

 

 
 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Calls for road improvements and maintenance 
Respondents expressed agreement with the proposed road improvements and maintenance. 
Improvements to roads were seen to benefit certain subgroups of the population including cyclists, 
older people and disabled people. These subgroups faced particular challenges when navigating 
existing roads. 

“But personally speaking the local roads are appalling and need massive investment for the 
whole county Lincolnshire now.” 

“This is a great opportunity for Lincolnshire to grow as long overdue are road upgrades to 
attract businesses which create jobs and makes locals want to stay and have a nice life.” 

“The road network within Lincolnshire needs a good shake up. Poor quality roads, poorly lit 
roads, especially A1 junctions.” 

Support for cycle lane improvements and maintenance 
Respondents expressed demands for cycle lane improvements and maintenance. Respondents called 
for ‘better’ and ‘safer’ cycleways across Greater Lincolnshire. Some respondents called for cyclists to 
be involved in the decision-making process. This was to ensure their perspectives and experiences 
are considered, generating solutions that would better meet their needs. 

“It would be good to see better and safer cycleways across Greater Lincolnshire, and not just 
between the hours of 8am and 6pm.” 

“Mention of cycle lanes and public transport - will this mean REAL improvements designed by 
people who actually use these facilities? Current cycle lanes are badly designed, and public 
transport offers poor value for money.” 

Support for improved transport links with other UK cities 
Respondents supported the notion of improved transport links with other UK cities, including London. 
This was deemed important to improve accessibility between different regions across the UK. In 
addition to improved train links, respondents also expressed concern at the inattention to the region’s 
airport within the current proposal. This addition was crucial to help encourage tourism and business.  

“Whilst I agree with the proposal to improve connectivity in the region, I see no mention of the 
regions airport - Humberside International and how connectivity can be improved to this.” 

Calls for greater focus on green transport solutions 
Respondents also supported a greater focus on green transport solutions. Respondents made 
suggestions to extend the focus of current policies to include clean air zones or environmentally 
friendly buses, for example. Respondents expressed general agreement with the need to have green 
transport and energy solutions to reduce carbon emissions. 

“Will the transport proposals include 20mph limits, 'clean air zones' and further increases in 
the chance of being able to generate further income from motorists?” 

“The new £2 per trip scheme has improved how many people use the buses now so lets get 
the investment in for nicer, more environmentally friendly buses that run more frequently so 
that we can keep the County moving more efficiently than it currently does.” 

18 Page 49



    

 

 

  
  

 
  

 
   

  

  

   
  

  
  

   

  
  

   
  

  
   

  
 

  
  

 
    

     
  

  
  

   
   

     
    

   
    

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Homes and communities 

Consultation question 4 

The proposal, if adopted, means more local housing decisions could be made in Greater 
Lincolnshire. We will work with local authorities, Homes England, landowners, developers and the 
full range of housing providers to promote regeneration and create good quality housing options to 
meet current and future demand. 

Local leaders would be able to bring forward investment in the infrastructure needed to unlock 
sites, support housing growth and develop housing projects that meet residents’ needs and 
consider the area’s environment and landscape. 

It also explains plans to prioritise: 

• working closely with planning authorities to identify, buy and dispose of land to build 
houses, commercial space and infrastructure, for growth and regeneration. 

• the regeneration of areas and strategic sites through ‘mayoral development areas’ and 
‘mayoral development corporations’. 

• appropriate housing development to make sure residents can find suitable local homes. 

• new and existing homes that make sure sustainable building practices and green design 
standards are used to minimise environmental impact and promote energy efficiency. 

• a balance between development need, improved public transport and preserving green 
spaces and existing communities. 

The proposal includes £8.4m of funding, controlled locally to support and encourage new homes 
being built on brownfield land. 

Section 3 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and 
communities? 

Quantitative insights 
Question 4 received 4,010 responses. Of these, 3,822 respondents were individuals, 55 replied on 
behalf of a business, 33 replied on behalf of local government, and 71 replied as ‘other’ categories. 29 
responses were received from respondents who did not indicate their respondent type. Across 
responses, 48% agreed with the proposals relating to homes and communities, 37% disagreed, and 
14% did not know or were neutral. 

Across all respondent categories but individuals, the majority of respondents agreed with the 
proposals. Compared to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ showed the highest 
levels of agreement (69%). Those replying on behalf of businesses agreed next most frequently 
(64%), followed by those replying on behalf of local government (58%), and individuals (48%). Of 
those that disagreed with the proposals, individuals were the most frequent (38%), whilst those 
replying on behalf of local government were more uncertain or neutral than other groups (21%). 

19 Page 50

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

 

   

  
 

    
    

    
   

     

  
  

  
    

 
 

   
    

  

 
  

 

 

   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

100% 
S

h
ar

e 
o

f r
es

p
o

n
d

en
ts

 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

48% 

64% 
58% 

69% 

38% 

31% 

21% 
17%14% 

5% 

21% 
14% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 

Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,981 total respondents 

When considering respondent age group, respondents aged under 18 most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (60%). This was closely followed by those aged between 18-24 (58%) and those aged 
between 25-44 (57%). Compared to other age groups, those aged between 65-74 agreed least 
frequently with the proposal (44%). Furthermore, when considering disability, no significant differences 
were observed between those who reported a disability and those who reported no disability. For 
example, 52% of those with no disability agreed with the proposal (compared to 46% of those who 
reported a disability), 35% disagreed (compared to 37% of those reporting a disability), and 13% did 
not know or were neutral (compared to 16% of those reporting a disability). 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (58%), followed by West Lindsey District (53%) and City of Lincoln (52%). Compared to 
other areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (29%). Complete 
tables detailing the segmentations are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Qualitative insights 
Support for town centre regeneration 
Respondents expressed support for town centre regeneration. Some respondents expressed concern 
that towns across Lincolnshire had been neglected. They used these examples to reiterate the 
importance of the devolution’s proposed town centre regeneration which was hoped to promote new 
businesses. 

“When are we going to be brought up to date with modernising the town centre. To put us in 
line with other counties. By giving the people of Scunthorpe an indoor shopping centre fully 
heated. Like Grimsby and Sheffield. It has been crying out for this for years.” 

“We need to regenerate our town centres and move away from the practice of donut housing 
where large estates are built on green field sites on the outskirts of towns, leading to excessive 
traffic congestion in parts of most towns.” 

20 Page 51



    

  
 
    

     
      

    
 

   
 

 

 
    

   
  

  
 
 

  

 
 

  

 

   
 

    

   
 

 
 

  

  
 

   
 

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Calls for greater focus on developing public infrastructure 
and amenities 
Respondents called for a greater focus on developing public infrastructure and amenities. While 
respondents supported proposals for housing, they highlighted the importance of the simultaneous 
development of services and infrastructure. Respondents drew attention to the scarcity of schools, 
general practices (GPs) and dentists in their local area. Respondents emphasised the importance of 
local community services such as libraries and youth clubs. 

“Services such as medical capacity, education capacity and environmental controls are 
necessary when making these decisions.” 

“Where are all these people with houses supposed to send their children to school or find a 
doctor or a dentist. The two doctors’ surgeries in Gainsborough are even now so massively 
oversubscribed that the ‘service’ is no longer a service… simply adding more housing without 
adding more care and education facility is tantamount to reckless endangerment.” 

Address social housing backlog 
Respondents called to address the social housing backlog. Respondents emphasised the general 
need for more affordable housing to reduce inequalities in housing opportunities between different 
socio-economic groups. 

“With more than a million families waiting for social housing it is clear this country is desperate 
for new, proper, respectable, as well designed and built and as roomy as most social housing 
of the past. By not including an ambition answering that desperate need for social housing, the 
whole statement of intent is greatly devalued.” 

“Secondly with regard to housing - £8.4m is a woefully small amount to invest in new housing 
on brownfield sites, so much more is needed to increase the stock of social and affordable 
housing which may help to retain young people in the county.” 

Prioritise repurposing old properties and empty buildings 
Respondents emphasised the importance of repurposing old properties and empty buildings before 
building new housing. This was particularly important in rural areas where important agricultural land 
was used for new constructions. Respondents also emphasised that this approach was a more cost-
effective solution, particularly for first-time buyers, single residents, and young families. 

“Far too many fields disappearing under homes that few can afford.” 

“I also believe we are building too many new homes and need to focus on the current empty 
properties around NE Lincs. New homes are a lot more expensive than older ones so not 
many first time buyers can afford them.” 

21 Page 52



    

 

 
  

 

  
   

 
  

  
 

   
 

  
    

  
  

  
 

   

 
      

    
    

  
  

  
  

   
   

    
  

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Environment 

Consultation question 5 

The proposal, if adopted, would support local leaders to balance economic development and the 
protection of the natural environment. 

The proposal includes: 

• plans for investment in conservation. 
• bringing together partners to agree and plan for the infrastructure required in Greater 

Lincolnshire that would support growth in green jobs. 
• a new partnership for water that focuses on flood prevention and water management 

programmes to support agriculture, tourism, green growth, communities and new 
housing. 

• a coastal partnership that promotes the natural and cultural heritage of the Lincolnshire 
Coast and tourism. 

• work with government to identify environmental priorities that could be incorporated into 
new environmental land management schemes - such as protection for top grade 
farmland across the UK Food Valley in Greater Lincolnshire. 

• implementing a local nature recovery strategy. 

Section 3 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment? 

Quantitative insights 
A total of 4,008 responses were received for this question. Of these, 3,819 respondents were 
individuals, 55 replied on behalf of a business, 33 replied on behalf of local government, and 72 replied 
as ‘other’ categories. 29 responses were received from respondents who did not indicate their 
respondent type. Across responses, 57% agreed with the proposals relating to the environment, 31% 
disagreed, and 12% did not know or were neutral. 

Across all respondent categories, the majority of respondents agreed with the proposals. Compared 
to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ showed the highest levels of agreement 
(79%) and the lowest levels of disagreement with the proposals (15%). Following this, 67% of those 
replying on behalf of local government and businesses expressed agreement, as well as 56% of 
individuals. Of those who disagreed with the proposals, individuals were the most frequent (31%). 
Individuals also expressed slightly greater uncertainty or neutrality compared to other respondent 
categories (13%). 

22 Page 53

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

 
   

 
   

   
   

     
     

   
     

  

    
    

   
  
   

 
 

   
 

 
 

  
  

  
 

 
     

    
  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

S
h

ar
e 

o
f r

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts
 

100% 
90% 
80% 
70% 
60% 
50% 
40% 
30% 
20% 
10% 

0% 

56% 

67% 67% 

79% 

31% 
25% 21% 

15%13% 
7% 

12% 
6% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 

Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,979 total respondents 

When considering respondent age group, the majority of all respondents agreed with the proposal. 
Respondents aged between 25-44 agreed most frequently (68%), followed by those aged between 
18-24 and 25034 (67% each). Of all age groups, those aged 75 and over, expressed the lowest level 
of agreement (52%). Furthermore, when considering disability, no significant differences were 
observed between those who reported a disability and those who reported no disability. For example, 
59% of those with no disability agreed with the proposal (compared to 57% of those reporting a 
disability), 29% disagreed (compared to 30% of those reporting a disability), and 12% did not know or 
were neutral (compared to 13% of those reporting a disability). 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (67%), followed by City of Lincoln (65%) and West Lindsey District (62%). Compared to 
other local authority areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (32%). 
Complete tables detailing the segmentations discussed above are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Qualitative insights 
Calls for increased use of renewable energy 
Respondents called for increased attention to renewable energy within the proposed initiatives. They 
expressed concern that there was insufficient attention to different energy sources. Respondents 
noted an inattention to solar and tidal energy sources despite their significance. They also critiqued 
the focus or ‘reliance’ on carbon capture and storage. 

“Not enough about renewable energy including onshore wind.” 

“Good to see the inclusion of climate change issues, but I have only seen mention of wind as a 
source of renewable energy; what about solar and tidal. Too much reliance is made on carbon 
capture and storage, e.g. the possibility of blue hydrogen - we should concentrate on green 
hydrogen. No mention made of British Steel.” 

Calls for increased measures on climate change adaption and 
mitigation 
Respondents called for further measures on climate change adaptation and mitigation. Some 
respondents expressed concern that there was limited focus on this area within current policies. No 
specific details were provided by respondents on what policies on climate change adaptation and 
mitigation should entail. 

23 Page 54



    

 

  
  

 

   
  

   

  
  

   
   

 
  

  

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

   
   

    
   

   
   

  

 

  
 

 
   

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

“The section on Environment should be stronger, giving support to nature recovery (30% of 
land managed for nature), and climate change adaptation and mitigation (including nature-
based solutions). Implementation of a Local Nature Recovery Strategy is already a legal 
requirement for LCC as the Responsible Authority.” 

“There is very little to address our Climate emergency. There is little about doing things - more 
about policy and strategy - much more emphasis needs to be given to actually getting things 
done particularly action to address the Climate Emergency.” 

Calls for increased conservation measures 
Respondents also called for further conservation measures such as sustainable farming, biodiversity, 
and wildlife safeguards. Respondents expressed widespread recognition of the importance of the 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy, however, respondents emphasised the need to move beyond this 
strategy. One proposed addition included mandatory biodiversity net gains. Respondents provided 
suggestions to promote a shift in farming practices towards more sustainable operations that reduced 
the use of chemical fertilisers, for example. 

“I hope that biodiversity measures can be strengthened in future deals. The proposals for the 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy are encouraging but would have come forward with or 
without the devolution proposal.” 

“Any decisions should be in line with and contribute towards national strategy and be based 
on advice from local environmental experts. Decisions should also be evidenced by and 
contribute towards objectives in the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, which were introduced 
by the Environment Act 2021 and are intended to agree priorities for nature recovery and 
propose actions in the locations where it would make a particular contribution to achieving 
those priorities.” 

Calls for protecting greenfield sites from development 
Respondents asked to protect greenfield sites from development. Respondents suggested that the 
section on the environment should be ‘stronger’ with more policies needed. They recommended that 
greenfield sites should not be used for any new developments in order to protect agricultural land and 
the environment more generally. All construction, including housing and solar panels, should take 
place on brownfield sites only. 

“More brownfield building is necessary to prevent loss of more agricultural land, more support 
for our farmers.” 

“I feel this is a positive move but biodiversity and green, woodlands spaces should be 
protected from over development and endless housing developments we are currently 
experiencing. Once a biodiverse field has been turned into housing, it is lost forever and the 
wildlife such as deer, whose home it is are displaced. More pollution, light pollution and traffic 
adding to global warming.” 

24 Page 55



    

 

 

  

  

   

   

 
  

   

    

  
  

  
  

  

   

     
    

    

   

   

 
  

   

  
  

   

  
    

      
  

  
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Governance 

Consultation question 6 

If the proposal is adopted, in order to get funding and powers to make the above ambitions a reality, 
something called a combined county authority (CCA) would be set up and a mayor would be directly 
elected by Greater Lincolnshire residents. 

We believe this organisation would: 

• receive the powers and money from government and provide transparent local leadership. 

• simplify decision-making on strategic matters affecting Greater Lincolnshire. 

• promote Greater Lincolnshire and give us one, strong voice locally, nationally and 
internationally. 

• make it easier to work together locally and with central government. 

• secure even more long-term investment, including borrowing. 

• be able to generate revenue locally through a precept or levy, subject to certain conditions 
being met. 

• make sure things are done for the benefit of the whole of the Greater Lincolnshire area, 
representing residents, their communities and their interests. 

If the proposal is adopted, the CCA would be made up of: 

• the mayor. 

• two representatives from each of North Lincolnshire Council, North East Lincolnshire Council, 
and Lincolnshire County Council who would have a vote on all matters. 

• four representatives from districts councils who would have a vote on some matters. 

• a police and crime commissioner. 

• a business leader. 

Some of the decisions would be made by the mayor with the majority being made by the CCA as a 
whole – the proposal sets out a number of safeguards that seek to manage the use of the new 
powers and funding and ensure the efficient and effective operation of the mayoral authority. 

Section 4 of the proposal sets out the detail of how it is expected this will work and can be read at 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance? 

Quantitative insights 
Question 6 received 4,019 responses. Of these, 3,834 respondents were individuals, 55 replied on 
behalf of a business, 31 replied on behalf of local government, and 71 replied as ‘other’ categories. 28 
responses were received from respondents who did not indicate their respondent type. Across 
responses, 39% agreed with the proposals relating to governance, 49% disagreed, and 13% did not 
know or were neutral. 

25 Page 56

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/devolution/proposal


    

    
   

     
  

  

  

 

   

  
  

   
    

    
    

     
     

  
 

  
    

 
  

  
    

    

  
   

   
  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Across all respondent categories besides individuals, the majority of respondents agreed with the 
proposals. Compared to other respondent categories, those replying as ‘other’ showed the highest 
levels of agreement (59%) with the proposals. This was closely followed by those replying on behalf of 
local government (58%) and those replying on behalf of businesses (56%), whilst 38% of individuals 
expressed agreement. Compared to other respondent categories, individuals disagreed most 
frequently with the proposals (50%), whilst ‘others’ showed slightly greater uncertainty or neutrality 
(15%). 

S
h

ar
e 

o
f r

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts
 

100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

38% 

56% 58% 59% 

50% 

40% 

29% 
25% 

13% 

4% 

13% 15% 

Individuals Businesses Local government Others 

Agree Disagree Neutral or don't know 

Note: 3,991 total respondents 

When considering respondent age group, respondents aged under 18 agreed most frequently with the 
proposals (54%) compared to other age groups. This was closely followed by those aged between 18-
24 (53%) and those aged between 25-34 (50%). Comparatively, those aged between 65-74 agreed 
least frequently with the proposal (35%). Furthermore, when considering disability, no significant 
differences were observed between those who reported a disability and those who reported no 
disability. For example, 40% of those with no disability agreed with the proposal (compared to 38% of 
those who disclosed a disability), 47% disagreed (compared to 49% of those reporting a disability), 
and 14% did not know or were neutral (compared to 13% of those reporting a disability). 

When considering local authority areas, North East Lincolnshire most frequently agreed with the 
proposals (51%), followed by City of Lincoln (45%) and North Lincolnshire (43%). Compared to other 
local authority areas, Boston Borough expressed the least agreement with the proposal (17%). 
Complete tables detailing the segmentations discussed above are available in Appendix C, D, and E. 

Response patterns 
The proposals suggested in Question 6 showed the highest levels of disagreement, uncertainty or 
neutrality across all closed-text consultation questions. In order to better understand response 
patterns, a cross-tabulation analysis was conducted which compared respondents’ responses to 
Question 6 with their responses to Questions 1 to 5. 

Overall response patterns showed that respondents who agreed or disagreed with question 6 were 
most likely to have answered similarly for Questions 1 to 5. For example, 93% of those agreeing with 
Question 6 had previously also agreed with Question 1 and only 2% had previously disagreed with 
Question 1. Among those disagreeing with Question 6, 63% had previously also disagreed with 

26 Page 57



    

 
    

  
     

    
  

  

  
  

    
  
    

    
   

       
 

 

  

 
  

 

 
 

  
    

  

    
  

 
 

  
 

   
 

 

  
  

 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Question 1, meanwhile 19% had agreed with Question 1 and 18% had expressed uncertainty about 
Question 1. Notably, however, of the respondents who were uncertain or neutral about the proposal in 
Question 6, the majority had previously agreed with the prior consultation questions. For example, 
63% of respondents who were uncertain or neutral about Question 6 had previously agreed with 
Question 1. This rose to 70% for Question 2, 71% for Question 3, and 67% for Question 5, and 
dropped to 51% for Question 4. Possible reasons for variations in respondents’ responses to 
Questions 1 to 5 in contrast to Question 6 can be found in the qualitative themes below. Complete 
breakdowns of cross-tabulation analysis for each question can be found in Appendix F. 

Qualitative insights 
Support for one centralised authority 
Respondents expressed support for one centralised authority, providing various suggestions on its 
potential structure. Some proposed a single council with one set of overheads to enhance efficiency, 
as well as a reduction in other tiers of existing local government to compensate for the addition of the 
CCA. Others suggested that central government was best placed to address issues in Lincolnshire, 
given that often the same problems were widespread across the UK. Additionally, suggestions were 
made to merge the three councils. It was noted by one local authority that to ensure the CCA works 
effectively, there would need to be continued engagement with district councils across governance 
levels. This was hoped to balance out the new tiers of governance and produce a more coordinated 
and streamlined structure. All these options were seen to minimise any administrative or financial 
burden. 

“Reducing tiers of government is required. The mayoral model fails when combined authority 
layers are introduced. Either remove county or district councils, but do not keep both.” 

“The social problems people suffer from are not specific to Greater Lincolnshire. They affect 
the country as a whole and as such are best dealt with by central government.” 

Specific suggestions regarding the mayor 
Respondents made several suggestions on the role of the mayor. Some suggested a name change to 
‘county governor’ or ‘governor general’ as the proposed term was typically associated with towns and 
cities that already had mayors. Additionally, respondents proposed implementing term limits for 
elected officials, and that the mayor should come from a high-level business or national body to bring 
new diverse perspectives. Lastly, it was raised that many residents are impacted by decisions made 
outside of Greater Lincolnshire in bordering areas; consequently, the need for collaboration with 
neighbouring authorities was considered a key additional requirement for the proposal. 

“It is a shame that the options provided in the legislation for using a title such as 'county 
governor' or 'governor general' have not been pursued. The title 'mayor' is associated with 
towns and cities, and there are already several of them at district, borough, and town council 
level in Lincolnshire. Is it too late to consider an alternative title to 'mayor'?” 

“Maximum length of terms for mayors and other elected representatives - 8 year max or 2 
four-year terms.” 

27 Page 58



    

 
     
       

 
   

 
  

 
  

 

   
  

   
  

 

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Specific suggestions regarding elected officials 
Respondents provided suggestions on additional elected officials. Respondents reiterated the 
importance of recruiting officials with lived experience who were able to understand resident needs. 
Respondents also recommended that the CCA should comprise of independent individuals who were 
able to represent the interests of the public rather than their own political interests. They also 
suggested having rotational business advisory roles and gender equality across all boards and 
decision-making bodies. 

“Need to ensure the Mayoral Committee consists of people who sincerely work for the best 
interests of Greater Lincolnshire and that the balance for each Authority within it is equal.” 

“The CCA should NOT be made up from Party - politics leaders or standing members. It 
should be enshrined as fully independent individuals standing for the interests of the people 
OF LINCOLNSHIRE. […] In addition, there should ONLY be a rotational business advisory role 
so as not to serve individual businesses or sectors more than others.” 

28 Page 59



    

 

 

 
  

      
  

      
     

   

   
    

      
  

 
     

    
    

  

  
  

 
 

    

 

  
  

 

 

 
  

  

 

   
   

   
  

  
    

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Additional themes 

Consultation question 7 

Please use this space to briefly share your comments or views about the Greater 
Lincolnshire devolution proposal or any of the questions above. 

This section is separated into three parts which focus on varying thematic areas: support, 
suggestions, and concerns raised by respondents in their responses to the open-text question. 
Responses were grouped into one overarching theme of support, three overarching themes of 
suggestions, and four overarching themes of concerns. In each section, the themes have been 
arranged in order of frequency. 

It is important to note that this report summarises the views of those who chose to participate in the 
consultation. Those who did participate are often more likely to represent an engaged subset of the 
population or to consider themselves more affected by the proposal. Respondents may therefore be 
more motivated to voice specific views or concerns, leading to a set of answers which do not 
represent the sentiment and split of opinions of the wider population. For example, across all 
respondents, 70% answered the open-text question. In contrast, 87% of those respondents who 
disagreed strongly with the proposal (answering all six quantitative questions with “Strongly disagree”) 
answered the open-text question. The themes below should therefore be understood as indicative 
rather than representative of the wider population. 

Themes of support 
Proposal will be beneficial for Lincolnshire’s development 
The only overarching theme of support among respondents setting out their views under Question 7 
explained that the proposal was seen as being beneficial to Greater Lincolnshire’s development. 
Respondents provided more detail by discussing the following contributions made by the proposal: 

Support for increased local control over local matters 

A frequent theme among respondents who expressed support for the proposal was the viewpoint that 
it would increase local control over local matters. Having governance at the combined authority level 
was hoped to lead to faster and more efficient responses by putting decision-making back in the remit 
of local leaders. Respondents also argued that the devolution would ensure that the decision-making 
process and its outcomes were catered to the local context and the population’s needs. 

“Obviously there needs to be checks and safeguards put in place, but I feel local governing 
bodies have a greater interest in local matters and would be more accountable to local 
population and better placed to fully understand local issues.” 

Opportunity for future prosperity 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that it would provide the opportunity for future 
prosperity. Devolution was associated with the potential for economic growth and local development. 
The newly created authority was hoped to have a better understanding of the region’s economic 
landscape, enabling them to implement targeted initiatives and investment decisions that stimulated 
business activity. It was also considered an opportunity to increase the voice of Greater Lincolnshire 
within central government. This was hoped to bring greater power and resources to the region. 

29 Page 60



    

 

   
 

  

 
 

 

    
   

   
    

    
     

  
 

 
     

 

   

   
    

  
 

    

  
  

   
 

 

   
  

 
   

    
   

  

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

“Devolution is the logical investment in our future prosperity and wellbeing. 

1. Devolution will reduce the burden on central governments by delegating powers and 
responsibilities to a regional level leading to a more efficient and effective governance, as 
regional governments can respond more quickly and effectively to local issues. 

2. An elected mayor will give local representation, there will be a greater say in the decision-
making process and responsiveness to local needs and concerns.” 

Strengthen Lincolnshire’s regional identity 

An additional frequent theme among respondents was the viewpoint that the proposal would 
strengthen county identity, fostering a stronger and more cohesive regional unity. The strengthening of 
county identity was seen to instil an increased sense of pride and community among residents. This 
would lead to a shared commitment to the overall wellbeing and development of the region. 

“I am proud to be Lincolnshire and in my opinion we have always been Lincolnshire, not 
Humberside or North east Lincs [Lincolnshire] but Lincolnshire, and I think this would please 
so many people and benefit Lincolnshire and it's residents as a whole.” 

“Seems to me that more control and decisions made locally will be of benefit and I will be 
particularly delighted with anything that ‘unites’ the county into one again (i.e. Lincolnshire, 
North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire, all returning to Lincolnshire, as pre 1 Apr 
1974).” 

Devolution seen to have worked well elsewhere 

Another frequent theme among respondents who supported the proposal was the view that the 
proposal had worked well elsewhere. Respondents frequently pointed to specific cases or examples 
from other areas where devolution agreements had been successful, resulting in more effective 
decision-making. Greater Manchester and Birmingham were recurring examples highlighted. This 
suggestion was often made with the caveat that there should be careful consideration of the 
appointment of the mayor and broader office. 

“Taking into consideration how mayors have worked in other areas such as Manchester and 
the benefits this has had, particularly for Transport I think as long as party politics don't 
overwhelm the office of mayor […] on balance this is a good thing.” 

“I have observed the significant difference that devolution and the employment of a dynamic 
Mayor has had on authorities such as Greater Manchester and Birmingham. It is imperative 
that the individual chosen has a good work ethic and is able to communicate effectively at all 
levels.” 

Themes of suggestions 
Suggestions for the implementation of the proposal 
Throughout responses raising themes of suggestions, three main themes were identified. The most 
common theme among responses to Question 7 made suggestions for the implementation of the 
proposal specifically. Suggestions included the following: 

30 Page 61



    

 

    
    

 
   

 
   

  
    

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

 
  

  

 

     
 

 
 

  

   
 

    
  

 

    
  

   
 

  

 
  

  

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Call for greater oversight and transparency 

A frequent theme among respondents who provided suggestions for the implementation of the 
proposal was the view that greater oversight and transparency were needed throughout the planning 
and delivery processes. Regarding planning, respondents called for more transparency in the 
decision-making process. For example, they requested more information on how proposals would be 
achieved. Regarding delivery, respondents called for an independent body to oversee the 
implementation process and provide transparency around funding allocations. This was deemed 
important to ensure that decisions were made in the best interest of the public. It was also suggested 
that accountability should be embedded within proposed governance structures, in addition to 
consistent transparency on the Combined County Authority (CCA) management and committee 
personnel. 

“The proposal is full of what the CCA want to achieve but not enough explanation on how.” 

“As it stands under the current government, I think Lincolnshire would benefit from devolution.  
It must be trustworthy in that decisions are totally transparent to all and all personal interests 
of elected members declared.” 

“I would like to see an independent auditing/financial body with SMEs appointed when 
necessary. This would ensure that the Governing bodies fiscal decisions/plans are prudent, 
based on expert knowledge, and in the best interests of the Lincolnshire population.” 

Calls for quality of CCA representatives to be monitored 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that the calibre of CCA representatives 
should be monitored. Respondents stressed the importance of recruiting individuals with relevant 
experience and expertise who could effectively represent local communities. The proposed monitoring 
was hoped to ensure that individuals with the relevant backgrounds were appointed, leading to more 
informed and targeted advocacy. 

“In the governance part I would like to see representatives from the rural areas as greater 
Lincolnshire is made up of a lot of rural areas. It would be good to also have religious 
representation i.e. Bishop of Lincoln who is aware of the needs and short comings of the 
greater Lincolnshire area.” 

Calls for equal regional representation within the CCA 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that there should be equal regional 
representation within the CCA. Respondents emphasised that each region should have fair and equal 
representation so that different subgroups of the public could make a direct and meaningful 
contribution to the council’s activities. This would ensure that decisions taken by the CCA would 
continue to consider the diverse needs of each region. 

“I think for true governance and representation of such a rural and diverse community, more 
than 4 representatives should be present at the governance Committee meetings, with equal 
voting rights. There should be a representative from each council, from each area. Otherwise, 
it is not possible for the mayor to have true oversight on Greater Lincolnshire and its people.” 

31 Page 62



    

  
    

  

 

  
   

 
  

  

 
 

    
  

 
    

  

 
  

  

 
 

   
   

    
   

   
 

   

  
  

  
  

  

 
  

  

  
  

 

 
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Calls for a public vote 
The second most common theme making suggestions called for a public vote to be held on the 
devolution proposal. Specifically, respondents discussed the following views: 

Support for a referendum 

A frequent theme among respondents who called for a public vote was the view that a referendum 
was needed. Some respondents criticised the consultation process as a means of collecting 
viewpoints. Instead, respondents argued that a referendum would offer a fair and democratic 
approach to involve the public in decision-making. It was expected that a higher proportion of the 
population would be aware and, therefore, participate in a referendum as opposed to a consultation. 

“A decision of this magnitude should not be based on an online survey of such limited scope 
and of which many people are unaware.” 

“If this is to be a democratic process all Lincolnshire councils and their populations they serve 
should be consulted in the form of a referendum.” 

Proposal considered ‘undemocratic’ 
Another frequent theme among respondents was criticism of the proposals as undemocratic. 
Respondents described the information provided in the consultation as “skewed” given it emphasised 
the benefits of the devolution with limited acknowledgement of drawbacks. This was described as an 
undemocratic basis for the public to make any decisions, providing limited scope to disagree with the 
proposals. Some respondents also referenced a rejected proposal for a new Mayoral Combined 
Authority in 2016. 

“A decision of this magnitude should not be based on an online survey of such limited scope 
and of which many people are unaware. This is undemocratic and there should be full public 
consultation with wide promulgation. No consideration is given in this biased questionnaire to 
possible downsides of the devolution proposal.” 

Health and social care suggested as an additional area of focus14 

The third most common theme among responses to Question 7 made suggestions aimed at the 
inclusion of health and social care into the proposal. Specific concerns and views raised included the 
following: 

Address shortage of General Practitioners (GPs) and dentists 

As a frequent theme, respondents called to address the existing shortage of GPs and dentists. They 
expressed concerns that the proposed plans for more housing did not include corresponding plans for 
additional GPs and dentist services. The proposals for further housing were seen to increase the size 
of the local population, worsening the already inadequate patient-to-doctor and dentist ratio. This was 
understood to negatively impact the community’s ability to access essential healthcare services. 

“Housing without provision of extra services like doctors and dentists will make already difficult 
life rather worse - experience tells us that promised doctors simply don't materialise, getting 
an NHS dentist is already impossible”. 

“BUT where are all these people with houses supposed to send their children to school or find 
a doctor or a dentist”. 

14 It should be recognised that health and social care remains outside the scope of the devolution proposal. The theme is included given the 
number of respondents having raised it in their free-text responses. 

32 Page 63



    

  

  
   

   
  

 

   
   

 

  
 

 

    
     

      
     
    

 

  

   
   

 
    

    
  

 

   

  
   

 

    
  
 

   

  

      
       

         

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Address shortage of hospitals and urgent treatment centres 

Another frequent theme was respondents calling to address the shortage of hospitals and urgent 
treatment centres. Poor transport links across Lincolnshire were seen to make it difficult for residents 
to access available services. Concerns were also raised towards the state and condition of current 
facilities. This highlighted the demand for improvements both in the quantity and quality of medical 
services across Lincolnshire. 

“Access to services especially health which ULHT have centralised in Lincoln/Boston are 
difficult and expensive to attend due to poor public transport connectivity.” 

“There have been many complaints about the running down of hospital resources in the 
Boston and Grantham areas which are being centralised in Lincoln.” 

Calls for improved adult social care provision 

A further frequent theme was calls for improved adult social care provision. Respondents expressed 
concerns about the limited or no information on additional spending within adult social care provision. 
This was framed as concerning, given the size of the elderly population across Lincolnshire. 
Respondents recommended that retirement homes should be located near family houses and 
reiterated the importance of integrating the elderly population into the community. 

“Finally, we have a greater than average elderly population, provision of retirement estates 
close to family housing, home care and care homes need to be addressed integrating the 
elderly into the community.” 

Themes of concerns 
Concerns that the proposal introduces additional administrative 
burdens 
Throughout responses raising themes of concern, four main themes were identified. The most 
common theme among respondents raising concerns in response to Question 7 expressed views that 
the proposal would introduce additional administrative burdens. Respondents explained their concerns 
in the following ways: 

Concerns regarding additional bureaucracy and layers of governance 

A frequent theme raised among respondents was the view there was no need for additional 
bureaucracy or added layers of governance. Respondents expressed concerns that devolution would 
result in additional bureaucracy that was unnecessary for the scheme to achieve its intended goals, 
instead stating that intended outcomes could already be delivered through existing structures. 
Respondents specifically highlighted the financial costs of additional bureaucracy and governance 
levels, arguing that investment should be directed towards improving existing structures, instead of 
creating new ones. 

“We don’t need another layer of government to oversee this new spending. We already have 
enough local councils with the knowledge to decide where the investment should be made.” 

Mayor perceived as unnecessary 

Another frequent theme raised among respondents was the view that there was no need for a mayor. 
Respondents considered an additional layer of governance to be an inefficient use of financial and 
administrative resources. They explained that any mayor would lack sufficient understanding of the 

33 Page 64



    

   
      

   
         

  
   

 

    
 

  

 

   
    

 
 

  
  

 
   

 

 

   
 

   
 

  

   
   

 

  
  

  
  

     

 

    
 

    
  

 
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

region, given the size and diversity of Greater Lincolnshire. Without this understanding, the mayor 
would face challenges in making informed decisions. Further concerns were raised regarding a mayor 
concentrating too much power in the hands of a single individual, resulting in an imbalance of power. 
Respondents discussed the potential risk of corruption and mismanagement of funds. 

“How will having another layer of governance help, this is another layer of cost that will require 
funding by taxpayers.” 

“We already have parish councils, town councils, district councils, and county councils. This is 
over-government, and it is not clear what benefits having an elected mayor would bring, nor 
what specific powers he or she would have.” 

Existing funding perceived as not well spent 

An additional frequent theme among respondents who expressed concerns about existing governance 
was the view that money was currently not well spent. This included distrust for how councils were 
using existing funding (such as spending it on salaries or allocating it to certain areas within 
Lincolnshire), as well as suggestions that councils do not have the skills to make investments. Some 
respondents also alluded to other council bankruptcies across England. This led to concerns that 
financial mismanagement may persist in the future, including the proposed devolution initiative. 

“History of poor planning, excessive uncontrolled spending, disregard of the general public 
and their views does not fill me with confidence that investment funds will be adequately 
distributed or used.” 

Proposal aims perceived as already achievable 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that the proposal should already be 
achievable with current governance. Respondents emphasised that there was no need for any of the 
additional layers of governance suggested by the proposal (such as the mayor or the CCA), given the 
outcomes should already be deliverable through current structures. Instead, it was suggested that 
current structures of governance should become more efficient to ensure better spending and 
decision-making. 

“I don't understand why all of this isn't already being done. Surely that's what the County 
Council is for. We shouldn't need another body and Mayor for this to be happening.” 

“The extra money and plans in themselves are fine but we do not need more politicians and 
bureaucrats to run it. This country spends too much on too many levels of government.” 

Concerns about implementation costs of the proposal 
The second most common theme among responses to Question 7 raising concerns discussed views 
on the costs of the proposal being implemented. Specifically, respondents raised the following issues: 

Concerns about how the proposal will be funded 

A frequently discussed concern surrounded the implementation costs and further financial implications 
of the scheme. Many respondents voiced fears that the proposal would transfer additional costs to 
residents, in few cases referencing increases in council tax, quoting concerns around the precept, or 
indirectly through reductions in the proposed investment budget. In response, respondents called for 
more transparency on the costs of additional governance, particularly the salaries of the mayor and 
the new office, and how these would be funded. 

34 Page 65



    

 
   

  

   

    
    

      

   
 

  

 

  
     

       
     

    

   
 

 
  

  

 

    
     

 
    

  
   

    

  
  

 

 

  

  
  

  

  
    

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

“My concern is that this extra layer of bureaucracy is going to increase the amount we pay in 
council tax. I thought devolution was about getting more money from national government for 
us to spend locally.” 

Support for funding to be given directly to local councils instead 

A frequently discussed theme among respondents was the view that funding should be given directly 
to local councils instead of through the newly created authority. Distributing funding directly to local 
councils was seen as more cost-effective, reducing bureaucratic complexities. 

“I do not believe it is necessary to create yet another layer of government- the money could be 
given to the existing authorities. A single authority would have to distribute the money fairly 
across all the areas and surely the individual authorities could work together when needed.” 

Concerns that aspects of the proposal are a ‘waste of money’ 

A frequently highlighted theme among respondents who expressed concerns about implementation 
costs was the view that the scheme was a ‘waste’ of financial resources. The perceived 
ineffectiveness of previous devolution deals in other regions led to doubts about the potential success 
of the proposed devolution in Lincolnshire. Frequently highlighted examples were devolution deals 
struck in Greater Manchester, Birmingham and Yorkshire. 

Concern that devolution benefits will be felt unequally across Greater 
Lincolnshire 
The third most common theme among responses to Question 7 raising concerns highlighted that 
devolution benefits may be felt unequally across Greater Lincolnshire. Respondents emphasised the 
following views in particular: 

Concerns around funding being unequally distributed 

A frequent theme among respondents were worries around the unequal distribution of funding and 
benefits across Greater Lincolnshire. Respondents expressed concerns that high-population areas 
such as Lincoln would receive a greater proportion of funding compared to low-population areas at the 
expense of regions such as North and North East Lincolnshire. Some respondents referred to 
devolution deals implemented elsewhere to emphasise the significance of equal funding. In response, 
respondents called for an inclusive approach to funding allocation to ensure that benefits were shared 
equitably. It was also recommended that the CCA should include a representative from each council. 

“The opportunity will allow Lincolnshire to catch up with other regions. Only concern is that we 
make sure the funds are spread fully across the region and it doesn’t become Lincoln centric.” 

“All major councils in Lincolnshire should have an equal say to prevent resources going to 
certain centres of population.” 

Concerns that Lincolnshire is too large and diverse for devolution 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that Lincolnshire was too large and diverse 
for the proposal to be successful. Respondents stated that Lincolnshire was geographically and 
demographically diverse with competing needs and priorities. Divisions between rural, coastal and 
urban areas were particularly emphasised by respondents. These differences meant that a single 
overarching system of governance was seen as redundant and would risk diluting local needs. Some 
respondents suggested that town, district, or city councils were better positioned to make decisions. 

“This is not the right model for such a large area as Lincolnshire County Council, North 

35 Page 66



    

    
  

 

 
  

  

 

   
 

    

 
 

 

 
 

    
  

       

 

  
     

  
   

   
  

 

  
 

     

 

   
  

  

 

 

 
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire, with such a variation of populations and social and 
economic needs.” 

“While I am aware that to secure Government funding there is a requirement for a Mayoral 
Authority the rural nature of Greater Lincolnshire with 1 million folks spread over 4,000 square 
miles is the opposite of the city mayoral authorities which manage large populations in 
geographically small areas.” 

Concerns it weakens power of local government 

An additional frequent theme among respondents was the view that the proposal would weaken the 
democratic power of local government. Respondents expressed concern that the devolution would 
affect the fair representation of local communities as the voices of local residents from small rural or 
coastal areas risked being overshadowed by decisions made at a higher level. 

“This will take power and decision making away from local people and is a failed concept. 
Localisation means power should be shifting to existing Local Authorities, not away.” 

“The creation of a mayor and unitary authority are just taking democracy further away from 
smaller communities and the money invariably goes to large towns.” 

Doubts about the proposal achieving its aims 
The fourth most common theme among responses to Question 7 raising concerns expressed doubts 
about the proposal achieving its aims. Specifically, respondents discussed the following concerns:  

Proposed investment considered insufficient 

A frequent theme among respondents was the view that the proposed investment was insufficient. The 
proposed £24 million investment per annum was described as “trivial” and “inadequate” to achieve 
the desired impact across all areas of focus or regions. Respondents also expressed concern that the 
value of this amount would diminish over time as it would be subject to inflationary pressures. 

“Furthermore, the proposed £24m pa [per annum] additional funding is trivial in the context of 
the discussed spending proposals on eg. transport and energy infrastructure.” 

“The 24 million stated per annum does sound a lot of money. But is it really, to enable all that 
is hoped for with devolution. £720 million spread over 30 years is a very long time. Will it be 
index linked to inflation etc, as it will not have the same value in 5- or 10-years time, never 
mind 30.”  

Devolution benefits perceived as unclear 

Another frequent theme among respondents was the view that the proposed benefits were unclear. 
Respondents criticised the proposals for their vagueness, calling for more information on how each 
proposed policy and its intended benefits would be achieved. 

“I agree in principle in investment in our area but there just isn’t enough information within the 
proposal to make an informed decision.”  

“Put this information into an easier to follow format with a diagram of the proposed 
organisation, its responsibilities, how it would work, how it will be funded identifying any 
additional costs to the taxpayer.”  

36 Page 67



    

 

 
   

 Protected 
 characteristic 

 Positive 
 Impact 

 No Impact 
 Negative 

 Impact 
 Don’t know 

 Number of 
 Respondents 

 3,727 

 3,693 

 3,680 

 3,677 

 3,669 

 3,659 

 3,645 

 3,608 

 3,451 

 Age 26%   30% 28%  17%  

 Sex 10%  52%  16%  21%  

 Disability 16%   43% 20%  22%  

Marriage and civil 
 partnership 

8%  56%  14%  22%  

 Race 9%  51%  17%  22%  

 Religion or belief 7%  55%  15%  23%  

 Sexual orientation 6%  56%  14%  23%  

Gender reassignment  5%  54%  13%  27%  

 Pregnancy and 
maternity  

10%  51%  14%  24%  

   
   

 

    
       

      
    

      
         

  

    
    

   
  
 

    
  

   
  

 
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Equalities impact assessment 

Perceived impact by protected characteristic 
Table 2. Responses by protected characteristic 

Consultation respondents were asked to express their views on the perceived impact of devolution on 
nine protected characteristics. Responses to these questions were not mandatory, resulting in varying 
response totals across protected characteristics. 

Overall, respondents were most divided about the devolution proposal’s impact on age; it was 
suggested that devolution would have both the highest positive impact on age (26%) as well as the 
highest negative impact (28%) compared to other protected characteristics. The majority of respondents 
suggested that the devolution proposals would have no impact on individuals with the following 
characteristics: marriage and civil partnership (56%); sexual orientation (56%); religion or belief (55%); 
gender reassignment (54%); sex (52%); race (51%); and pregnancy and maternity (51%). 

Patterns by respondent characteristics 
Responses to the equality impact questionnaire were also broken down by respondent characteristic, 
allowing to check whether groups with a certain protected characteristic varied in their perception 
from other consultation respondents. For example, of those respondents who disclosed a disability, 
28% expressed that the devolution proposal would have a negative impact on individuals with 
disabilities (compared to 16% of respondents with no disability). For both groups, the highest 
proportion of respondents suggested that the devolution proposals would have no impact on 
individuals with disabilities (46% of those with no disability and 32% of those who disclosed a 
disability). 

Moreover, respondents who identified as heterosexual or straight were most likely to believe that the 
devolution proposal would have no impact (60%). In contrast, respondents that identified as bisexual 
and gay or lesbian were most likely to believe devolution would have a negative impact (24% and 23% 
respectively). This compared to 11% among respondents that identified as heterosexual or straight. 

37 Page 68



    

   
 

 
   

    

  
     

   
  

 
   

   
        

    

 
  

 

 
  

       
        

     
 

    

   

     
  

 
   

   
      

  
      

  
  

    
 

         
    

    
   

 
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Finally, respondents who identified as Black or Black British were most likely to believe that devolution 
would have a positive impact (22%). Respondents that identified as white were least likely to believe 
the proposals would have a negative impact (15%), compared to 17% of those identifying as Black or 
Black British, 23% of those identifying as Mixed, and 26% of those identifying as Asian or Asian 
British. A detailed breakdown by selected protected characteristics can be found in Appendix G. 

Analysis of open text responses 
Suggestions were raised on the impact of the devolution on different age groups. Respondents 
expressed support for the proposed improvements to transport. Improvements were anticipated to 
benefit the elderly population by increasing access to various locations across Lincolnshire, enhancing 
their well-being. However, concerns were raised regarding the extent and quality of transport 
connections between rural and urban areas. In addition to transport-related issues, respondents called 
for the greater representation of younger and older members of the population in government 
structures. Further suggestions were raised regarding increased investment into social care for the 
elderly population due to rising demands and pressure faced by the sector. 

“I think increasing public transport could greatly benefit older people, people with disabilities 
and pregnant people as there would be greater ease to move around the county.” 

“We need more local accessible transport especially from rural areas to the town centres 
having cheaper transport doesn’t help if the service doesn’t reach you.” 

Discussing the potential impact of the devolution on gender and sex, some respondents raised 
concerns over the composition of government structures that were dominated by white men from 
middle-class backgrounds. Instead, respondents called for equal gender representation in any 
governance structures within the proposed authority. Other respondents requested more information 
on the proposed devolution to better ascertain its impact on gender and sex of the population. 

“From the outset, the boards and decision makers of Devolution MUST reflect the male/female 
population of Greater Lincolnshire (50/50).” 

In relation to disabled members of the population, respondents supported the proposed 
improvements to health and care services along with expanded transport links. Among respondents 
who anticipated negative impacts it was argued that the needs of people with disabilities should be 
more carefully considered throughout the consultation. For housing, respondents called for more 
single-level accommodation such as bungalows. In relation to transport, the need for safer crossings 
was emphasised. Regarding education, it was suggested that Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) should become an integral part of training and education. More training and 
understanding of non-visible disabilities were also suggested by respondents. 

“Very little has been said about people with disabilities. At present most housing developments 
are houses, not single level accommodation which people with disabilities require.” 

Comments on marriage and civil partnership focused on the negative impacts of the proposed 
devolution. They also critiqued the lack of focus on ‘single parents’ as a protected characteristic. 
Concerns were raised regarding the conflation of the terms race and ethnicity in the consultation due 
to their conceptual differences. Focused on the positive impacts of the devolution proposal, 
respondents hoped that devolution would attract individuals from diverse ethnic and religious 
backgrounds, contributing to a more multicultural environment. In addition, respondents called for 
more diverse governance boards to ensure effective representation and inclusive decision-making 
processes. 

38 Page 69



    

  
 

  

   
    

       
  

   
   

    
     

      
 

      
   

   

 

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

“Attracting more variety of cultures to Lincolnshire is likely to have a positive impact on race 
and religion and make Lincolnshire more multi-cultural. I have young children who will benefit 
from the proposed improvements.” 

Discussing the potential impact of the devolution on pregnancy and maternity, respondents 
supported the proposed improvements to care and health services and improved transport. However, 
respondents also expressed concerns about the impact of lockdown on children’s education. It was 
recommended that additional support should be provided to children and their teachers in managing 
anxiety and mental health. Respondents furthermore raised concerns around the lack of sufficient 
funding for maternity services, given the current pressures on the health system. 

Very few respondents discussed the impact of the devolution scheme on their religion or belief. It 
was noted, however, that there were no proposals for protected or at-risk buildings which included 
religious buildings. This was seen to merit further attention in proposed policies. In addition, there were 
no constructive comments on the impact of the devolution on sexual orientation and gender 
reassignment. 

Finally, respondents often used this section to provide general feedback on the devolution proposal. 
They also requested more information on the devolution deal before making any judgements about 
any positive or negative impact on protected characteristics. 

39 Page 70



    

 

  
  

  

     
  

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

     
 

     

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix A 

Overview of responses by question 
Note: The following tables provide an overview of all responses provided to the six consultation 

questions, regardless of whether respondents indicated their respondent type in any way. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 3. Question 1 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 950 24% 

Agree 1,180 29% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 520 13% 

Disagree 507 13% 

Strongly disagree 776 19% 

Don't know 80 2% 

All respondents 4,013 100% 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to education and training? 
Table 4. Question 2 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 1,106 28% 

Agree 1,165 29% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 441 11% 

Disagree 516 13% 

Strongly disagree 726 18% 

Don't know 54 1% 

All respondents 4,008 100% 

40 Page 71



    

     
 

     

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

     
 

     

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 5. Question 3 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 1,279 32% 

Agree 1,015 25% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 350 9% 

Disagree 502 12% 

Strongly disagree 817 20% 

Don't know 54 1% 

All respondents 4,017 100% 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to homes and communities? 
Table 6. Question 4 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 890 22% 

Agree 1,057 26% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 502 13% 

Disagree 606 15% 

Strongly disagree 889 22% 

Don't know 66 2% 

All respondents 4,010 100% 

41 Page 72



    

    
  

     

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

     
 

     

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to the environment? 
Table 7. Question 5 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 1,162 29% 

Agree 1,112 28% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 442 11% 

Disagree 469 12% 

Strongly disagree 765 19% 

Don't know 58 1% 

All respondents 4,008 100% 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to governance? 
Table 8. Question 6 – Overview of complete responses 

Response Count Share 

Strongly agree 638 16% 

Agree 912 23% 

Neither agree, nor disagree 432 11% 

Disagree 570 14% 

Strongly disagree 1,393 35% 

Don't know 74 2% 

All respondents 4,019 100% 

42 Page 73



    

 

 
  

   
 

   

     
  

      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

  
 

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix B 

Segmentation by respondent type 
Note: The following tables provide an overview of the responses received to the six consultation 

questions, broken down by detailed respondent type. Responses from respondents who had 
not answered this demographic question are therefore not included in the tables below. 
Overviews of all responses can be found in Appendix A. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 9. Question 1 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 880 (23%) 
1,131 
(30%) 

497 (13%) 498 (13%) 746 (19%) 74 (2%) 

Business 18 (33%) 12 (22%) 6 (11%) 5 (9%) 13 (24%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

14 (42%) 7 (21%) 4 (12%) 1 (3%) 6 (18%) 1 (3%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

6 (35%) 7 (41%) 0 (0%) 1 (6%) 2 (12%) 1 (6%) 

Academic 4 (36%) 5 (45%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Elected 
representative 

4 (44%) 0 (0%) 3 (33%) 1 (11%) 1 (11%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 3 (30%) 6 (60%) 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Others 2 (25%) 4 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (25%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 3 (60%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

0 (0%) 2 (67%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 

Total 935 (23%) 
1,178 
(30%) 

512 (13%) 507 (13%) 774 (19%) 77 (2%) 

Note: 3,983 total respondents 

43 Page 74



    

     
  

      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

    

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to education and training? 
Table 10. Question 2 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 
1,023 
(27%) 

1,109 
(29%) 

431 (11%) 507 (13%) 703 (18%) 49 (1%) 

Business 22 (40%) 14 (25%) 2 (4%) 4 (7%) 13 (24%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

16 (48%) 7 (21%) 1 (3%) 2 (6%) 4 (12%) 3 (9%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

9 (53%) 5 (29%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (12%) 1 (6%) 

Academic 5 (45%) 4 (36%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Elected 
representative 

3 (38%) 2 (25%) 2 (25%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 7 (70%) 3 (30%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Others 4 (50%) 3 (38%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 3 (60%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

0 (0%) 3 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 2 (67%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,094 
(27%) 

1,155 
(29%) 

436 (11%) 514 (13%) 726 (18%) 54 (1%) 

Note: 3,979 total respondents 

44 Page 75



    

     
 

      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 11. Question 3 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 
1,204 
(31%) 

952 (25%) 336 (9%) 495 (13%) 794 (21%) 50 (1%) 

Business 21 (38%) 16 (29%) 5 (9%) 2 (4%) 11 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

13 (39%) 11 (33%) 1 (3%) 3 (9%) 4 (12%) 1 (3%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

7 (41%) 7 (41%) 0 (0%) 1 (6%) 1 (6%) 1 (6%) 

Academic 2 (18%) 6 (55%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (18%) 1 (9%) 

Elected 
representative 

4 (44%) 3 (33%) 1 (11%) 0 (0%) 1 (11%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 2 (20%) 6 (60%) 1 (10%) 1 (10%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Others 3 (38%) 4 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 2 (40%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (40%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

1 (25%) 1 (25%) 2 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 3 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,263 
(32%) 

1,009 
(25%) 

346 (9%) 502 (13%) 816 (20%) 54 (1%) 

Note: 3,990 total respondents 

45 Page 76



    

     
  

      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

  
 

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to homes and communities? 
Table 12. Question 4 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 831 (22%) 991 (26%) 487 (13%) 593 (16%) 863 (23%) 57 (1%) 

Business 19 (35%) 16 (29%) 3 (5%) 6 (11%) 11 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

9 (27%) 10 (30%) 3 (9%) 3 (9%) 4 (12%) 4 (12%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

6 (35%) 6 (35%) 1 (6%) 1 (6%) 3 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Academic 0 (0%) 7 (64%) 1 (9%) 0 (0%) 2 (18%) 1 (9%) 

Elected 
representative 

3 (33%) 1 (11%) 1 (11%) 1 (11%) 3 (33%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 2 (20%) 5 (50%) 2 (20%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 

Others 4 (50%) 2 (25%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 3 (60%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

1 (25%) 2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 2 (67%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 880 (22%) 
1,045 
(26%) 

500 (13%) 604 (15%) 888 (22%) 64 (2%) 

Note: 3,981 total respondents 

46 Page 77



    

    
  
      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

    

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to the environment? 
Table 13. Question 5 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 
1,089 
(29%) 

1,047 
(27%) 

427 (11%) 458 (12%) 743 (19%) 55 (1%) 

Business 22 (40%) 15 (27%) 4 (7%) 4 (7%) 10 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

12 (36%) 10 (30%) 3 (9%) 3 (9%) 4 (12%) 1 (3%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

4 (22%) 8 (44%) 2 (11%) 1 (6%) 3 (17%) 0 (0%) 

Academic 2 (18%) 7 (64%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Elected 
representative 

5 (56%) 1 (11%) 1 (11%) 2 (22%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 3 (30%) 6 (60%) 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Others 3 (38%) 4 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 3 (60%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

1 (25%) 3 (75%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

1 (25%) 2 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 3 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,146 
(29%) 

1,106 
(28%) 

437 (11%) 469 (12%) 764 (19%) 57 (1%) 

Note: 3,979 total respondents 

47 Page 78



    

     
 

      

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     
 

 

       

 
      

 
  

      

        

 
      

        

       

        

 
 

      

 
 

  
      

        

     
 

 

   

 

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to governance? 
Table 14. Question 6 - Segmentation by detailed respondent type 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Individual 580 (15%) 861 (22%) 414 (11%) 551 (14%) 
1,358 
(35%) 

70 (2%) 

Business 14 (25%) 17 (31%) 2 (4%) 6 (11%) 16 (29%) 0 (0%) 

Local 
government 

8 (26%) 10 (32%) 3 (10%) 3 (10%) 6 (19%) 1 (3%) 

Voluntary and 
community 
sector 

7 (41%) 4 (24%) 2 (12%) 1 (6%) 3 (18%) 0 (0%) 

Academic 3 (27%) 3 (27%) 1 (9%) 1 (9%) 2 (18%) 1 (9%) 

Elected 
representative 

3 (33%) 1 (11%) 0 (0%) 2 (22%) 3 (33%) 0 (0%) 

Charity 4 (40%) 3 (30%) 1 (10%) 2 (20%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Others 0 (0%) 5 (62%) 2 (25%) 0 (0%) 1 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Transport 1 (20%) 2 (40%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 1 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

1 (25%) 0 (0%) 2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Civil service 
or 
government 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 

Action group 2 (67%) 0 (0%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 625 (16%) 907 (23%) 428 (11%) 568 (14%) 
1,390 
(35%) 

73 (2%) 

Note: 3,991 total respondents 

48 Page 79



    

 

 
  

   
  

 

     
  

       

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

     
 

  
 

 
   

   

 

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix C 

Segmentation by local authority area 
Note: The following tables provide an overview of the responses received to the six consultation 

questions, broken down by local authority area. Responses from respondents who had not 
answered this demographic question are therefore not included in the tables below. Overviews 
of all responses can be found in Appendix A. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 15. Question 1 - Segmentation by detailed local authority area 

Respondent type 
Strongly 

agree 
Agree 

Neither agree, 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North Lincolnshire 
Council  

212 (27%) 
222 

(28%) 
110 (14%) 

102 
(13%) 

120 
(15%) 

19 
(2%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire Council 

180 (29%) 
237 

(38%) 
62 (10%) 57 (9%) 80 (13%) 

13 
(2%) 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

88 (18%) 
145 

(29%) 
74 (15%) 77 (16%) 99 (20%) 

10 
(2%) 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

100 (21%) 
138 

(29%) 
68 (14%) 70 (15%) 92 (19%) 

6 
(1%) 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

113 (25%) 
140 

(31%) 
55 (12%) 47 (10%) 85 (19%) 

11 
(2%) 

City of Lincoln 
Council  

97 (28%) 
115 

(34%) 
37 (11%) 42 (12%) 44 (13%) 

8 
(2%) 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

56 (18%) 
85 

(27%) 
50 (16%) 44 (14%) 74 (24%) 

3 
(1%) 

Boston Borough 
Council 

33 (13%) 
42 

(16%) 
31 (12%) 39 (15%) 

106 
(41%) 

5 
(2%) 

South Holland 
District Council 

35 (18%) 
43 

(22%) 
25 (13%) 28 (14%) 67 (34%) 

1 
(1%) 

No information 
provided15 

2 (50%) 2 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 
0 

(0%) 

Total 916 (23%) 
1,169 
(30%) 

512 (13%) 
506 

(13%) 
767 

(19%) 
76 

(2%) 

Note: 3,946 total respondents 

15 ‘No information provided’ was noted in the response data as ‘Redacted’. 

49 Page 80



    

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

  
 

 
      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
  

    

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to education and training? 
Table 16. Question 2 - Segmentation by local authority area 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council  

238 (30%) 236 (30%) 78 (10%) 114 (15%) 109 (14%) 9 (1%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

213 (34%) 208 (33%) 53 (8%) 73 (12%) 71 (11%) 9 (1%) 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

116 (24%) 146 (30%) 57 (12%) 66 (13%) 102 (21%) 5 (1%) 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council 

99 (21%) 150 (32%) 70 (15%) 60 (13%) 90 (19%) 5 (1%) 

West Lindsey 
District 
Council 

130 (29%) 137 (30%) 46 (10%) 56 (12%) 72 (16%) 10 (2%) 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council  

128 (37%) 94 (27%) 35 (10%) 32 (9%) 49 (14%) 7 (2%) 

South 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

70 (23%) 87 (28%) 40 (13%) 38 (12%) 73 (24%) 2 (1%) 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

42 (17%) 40 (16%) 33 (13%) 46 (18%) 90 (35%) 3 (1%) 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

38 (19%) 44 (22%) 22 (11%) 29 (15%) 63 (32%) 3 (2%) 

No 
information 
provided 

3 (75%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,077 
(27%) 

1,143 
(29%) 

434 (11%) 514 (13%) 719 (18%) 53 (1%) 

Note: 3,940 total respondents 

50 Page 81



    

     
 

       

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

  
 

 
      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

 

 
     

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 

     

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 17. Question 3 - Segmentation by detailed local authority area 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council  

263 (34%) 215 (27%) 70 (9%) 110 (14%) 120 (15%) 7 (1%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

252 (40%) 171 (27%) 49 (8%) 63 (10%) 85 (13%) 10 (2%) 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

145 (29%) 126 (26%) 39 (8%) 67 (14%) 110 (22%) 5 (1%) 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council 

116 (24%) 129 (27%) 45 (9%) 73 (15%) 107 (23%) 4 (1%) 

West Lindsey 
District 
Council 

7 

(35%) 
115 (25%) 41 (9%) 41 (9%) 84 (19%) 12 (3%) 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council  

123 (36%) 94 (27%) 37 (11%) 41 (12%) 45 (13%) 6 (2%) 

South 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

90 (29%) 78 (25%) 24 (8%) 34 (11%) 82 (26%) 3 (1%) 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

45 (18%) 34 (13%) 22 (9%) 47 (18%) 105 (41%) 4 (2%) 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

50 (25%) 36 (18%) 17 (9%) 23 (12%) 71 (36%) 2 (1%) 

No 
information 
provided 

2 (50%) 1 (25%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,245 
(32%) 

999 (25%) 345 (9%) 499 (13%) 809 (20%) 53 (1%) 

Note: 3,950 total respondents 

51 Page 82



    

     
 

       

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

  
 

 
      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

  
 

    

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to homes and communities? 
Table 18. Question 4 - Segmentation by detailed local authority area 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council  

198 (25%) 200 (26%) 107 (14%) 126 (16%) 142 (18%) 11 (1%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

168 (27%) 196 (31%) 76 (12%) 89 (14%) 91 (15%) 6 (1%) 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

97 (20%) 129 (26%) 53 (11%) 81 (16%) 122 (25%) 9 (2%) 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council 

89 (19%) 115 (24%) 73 (15%) 73 (15%) 115 (24%) 8 (2%) 

West Lindsey 
District 
Council 

105 (23%) 135 (30%) 54 (12%) 57 (13%) 88 (19%) 14 (3%) 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council  

91 (26%) 91 (26%) 50 (14%) 48 (14%) 55 (16%) 10 (3%) 

South 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

52 (17%) 84 (27%) 36 (12%) 52 (17%) 85 (27%) 2 (1%) 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

31 (12%) 44 (17%) 30 (12%) 42 (16%) 108 (42%) 1 (0%) 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

33 (17%) 37 (19%) 17 (9%) 35 (18%) 75 (38%) 1 (1%) 

No 
information 
provided 

2 (50%) 2 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 866 (22%) 
1,033 
(26%) 

496 (13%) 603 (15%) 881 (22%) 62 (2%) 

Note: 3,941 total respondents 

52 Page 83



    

     
  
       

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

  
 

 
      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
  

    

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to the environment? 
Table 19. Question 5 - Segmentation by detailed local authority area 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council  

248 (32%) 220 (28%) 97 (12%) 95 (12%) 119 (15%) 5 (1%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

213 (34%) 205 (33%) 54 (9%) 60 (10%) 82 (13%) 12 (2%) 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

124 (25%) 126 (26%) 62 (13%) 64 (13%) 108 (22%) 8 (2%) 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council 

114 (24%) 138 (29%) 54 (11%) 66 (14%) 94 (20%) 7 (1%) 

West Lindsey 
District 
Council 

140 (31%) 138 (31%) 45 (10%) 41 (9%) 75 (17%) 13 (3%) 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council  

126 (37%) 97 (28%) 33 (10%) 36 (10%) 47 (14%) 5 (1%) 

South 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

77 (25%) 87 (28%) 39 (13%) 35 (11%) 69 (22%) 2 (1%) 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

43 (17%) 38 (15%) 30 (12%) 44 (17%) 98 (38%) 2 (1%) 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

43 (22%) 41 (21%) 23 (12%) 27 (14%) 63 (32%) 2 (1%) 

No 
information 
provided 

3 (75%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,131 
(29%) 

1,091 
(28%) 

437 (11%) 468 (12%) 755 (19%) 56 (1%) 

Note: 3,938 total respondents 

53 Page 84



    

     
 

       

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

  
 

 
      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 
 

      

 
 

      

     
 

 

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to governance? 
Table 20. Question 6 - Segmentation by detailed local authority area 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

North 
Lincolnshire 
Council  

149 (19%) 192 (24%) 85 (11%) 116 (15%) 233 (30%) 10 (1%) 

North East 
Lincolnshire 
Council 

134 (21%) 191 (30%) 77 (12%) 76 (12%) 139 (22%) 13 (2%) 

North 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

52 (11%) 117 (24%) 58 (12%) 74 (15%) 184 (37%) 9 (2%) 

East Lindsey 
District 
Council 

49 (10%) 98 (21%) 60 (13%) 76 (16%) 183 (39%) 8 (2%) 

West Lindsey 
District 
Council 

73 (16%) 107 (24%) 54 (12%) 60 (13%) 144 (32%) 15 (3%) 

City of 
Lincoln 
Council  

65 (19%) 89 (26%) 26 (8%) 45 (13%) 115 (33%) 6 (2%) 

South 
Kesteven 
District 
Council 

43 (14%) 49 (16%) 33 (11%) 54 (17%) 128 (41%) 4 (1%) 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

19 (7%) 26 (10%) 20 (8%) 29 (11%) 158 (62%) 4 (2%) 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

30 (15%) 26 (13%) 9 (5%) 36 (18%) 95 (48%) 3 (2%) 

No 
information 
provided 

1 (25%) 1 (25%) 2 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 615 (16%) 896 (23%) 424 (11%) 566 (14%) 
1,379 
(35%) 

72 (2%) 

Note: 3,952 total respondents 

54 Page 85



    

 
  

    
   

  

     
  

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

  
 

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix D 

Segmentation by age group 
Note: The following tables provide an overview of the responses received to the six consultation 

questions, broken down by age group. Responses from respondents who had not answered 
this demographic question are therefore not included in the tables below. Overviews of all 
responses can be found in Appendix A. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 21. Question 1 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 13 (21%) 36 (57%) 6 (10%) 2 (3%) 6 (10%) 0 (0%) 

18-24 41 (29%) 55 (39%) 12 (9%) 4 (3%) 27 (19%) 1 (1%) 

25-34 61 (27%) 89 (39%) 22 (10%) 15 (7%) 42 (18%) 1 (0%) 

35-44 111 (30%) 126 (34%) 40 (11%) 32 (9%) 59 (16%) 6 (2%) 

45-54 137 (24%) 194 (34%) 69 (12%) 61 (11%) 95 (17%) 9 (2%) 

55-64 209 (26%) 225 (28%) 96 (12%) 107 (13%) 140 (18%) 16 (2%) 

65-74 182 (22%) 219 (27%) 125 (15%) 128 (16%) 158 (19%) 13 (2%) 

75+ 94 (22%) 123 (28%) 74 (17%) 60 (14%) 77 (18%) 7 (2%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

24 (7%) 62 (17%) 51 (14%) 83 (23%) 127 (35%) 18 (5%) 

No 
information 
provided 

3 (43%) 2 (29%) 2 (29%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 875 (23%) 
1,131 
(30%) 

497 (13%) 492 (13%) 731 (19%) 71 (2%) 

Note: 3,797 total respondents 

55 Page 86



    

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to education and training? 
Table 22. Question 2 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 16 (25%) 28 (44%) 5 (8%) 7 (11%) 7 (11%) 0 (0%) 

18-24 49 (35%) 39 (28%) 18 (13%) 8 (6%) 26 (19%) 0 (0%) 

25-34 87 (38%) 67 (29%) 18 (8%) 14 (6%) 43 (19%) 1 (0%) 

35-44 130 (35%) 126 (34%) 28 (7%) 27 (7%) 58 (15%) 6 (2%) 

45-54 176 (31%) 171 (30%) 64 (11%) 54 (10%) 95 (17%) 4 (1%) 

55-64 232 (29%) 227 (29%) 84 (11%) 113 (14%) 126 (16%) 10 (1%) 

65-74 195 (24%) 234 (28%) 101 (12%) 136 (17%) 149 (18%) 8 (1%) 

75+ 101 (23%) 140 (32%) 54 (12%) 58 (13%) 71 (16%) 8 (2%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

31 (8%) 72 (20%) 53 (14%) 86 (23%) 114 (31%) 10 (3%) 

No 
information 
provided 

4 (57%) 1 (14%) 2 (29%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,021 
(27%) 

1,105 
(29%) 

427 (11%) 503 (13%) 689 (18%) 47 (1%) 

Note: 3,792 total respondents 

56 Page 87



    

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 

     

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 23. Question 3 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 28 (44%) 16 (25%) 6 (10%) 3 (5%) 9 (14%) 1 (2%) 

18-24 66 (47%) 27 (19%) 12 (9%) 6 (4%) 29 (21%) 0 (0%) 

25-34 97 (42%) 60 (26%) 18 (8%) 14 (6%) 41 (18%) 0 (0%) 

35-44 143 (38%) 112 (30%) 21 (6%) 32 (9%) 61 (16%) 6 (2%) 

45-54 188 (33%) 155 (27%) 44 (8%) 64 (11%) 109 (19%) 5 (1%) 

55-64 272 (34%) 200 (25%) 67 (8%) 97 (12%) 149 (19%) 8 (1%) 

65-74 237 (29%) 202 (24%) 81 (10%) 133 (16%) 166 (20%) 6 (1%) 

75+ 133 (31%) 113 (26%) 45 (10%) 55 (13%) 82 (19%) 8 (2%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

32 (9%) 64 (17%) 38 (10%) 85 (23%) 134 (37%) 14 (4%) 

No 
information 
provided 

3 (43%) 1 (14%) 3 (43%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,199 
(32%) 

950 (25%) 335 (9%) 489 (13%) 780 (21%) 48 (1%) 

Note: 3,801 total respondents 

57 Page 88



    

  
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

       

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to homes and communities? 
Table 24. Question 4 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 14 (22%) 24 (38%) 8 (13%) 6 (10%) 9 (14%) 2 (3%) 

18-24 40 (29%) 41 (29%) 18 (13%) 9 (6%) 32 (23%) 0 (0%) 

25-34 71 (31%) 53 (23%) 28 (12%) 25 (11%) 48 (21%) 4 (2%) 

35-44 95 (26%) 117 (31%) 39 (10%) 47 (13%) 69 (19%) 5 (1%) 

45-54 144 (26%) 156 (28%) 61 (11%) 75 (13%) 119 (21%) 9 (2%) 

55-64 187 (24%) 217 (27%) 114 (14%) 115 (15%) 152 (19%) 7 (1%) 

65-74 174 (21%) 193 (23%) 104 (13%) 152 (18%) 191 (23%) 9 (1%) 

75+ 83 (19%) 131 (30%) 59 (14%) 65 (15%) 85 (20%) 11 (3%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

18 (5%) 56 (15%) 51 (14%) 92 (25%) 142 (39%) 8 (2%) 

No 
information 
provided 

3 (43%) 2 (29%) 2 (29%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 829 (22%) 990 (26%) 484 (13%) 586 (15%) 847 (22%) 55 (1%) 

Note: 3,791 total respondents 

58 Page 89



    

    
  
    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to the environment? 
Table 25. Question 5 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 22 (35%) 19 (31%) 10 (16%) 1 (2%) 10 (16%) 0 (0%) 

18-24 55 (39%) 39 (28%) 13 (9%) 7 (5%) 26 (19%) 0 (0%) 

25-34 85 (37%) 70 (30%) 19 (8%) 13 (6%) 41 (18%) 2 (1%) 

35-44 129 (35%) 123 (33%) 25 (7%) 30 (8%) 56 (15%) 7 (2%) 

45-54 181 (32%) 168 (30%) 57 (10%) 52 (9%) 101 (18%) 6 (1%) 

55-64 239 (30%) 219 (28%) 96 (12%) 97 (12%) 133 (17%) 9 (1%) 

65-74 215 (26%) 225 (27%) 89 (11%) 118 (14%) 161 (20%) 12 (1%) 

75+ 127 (29%) 102 (23%) 65 (15%) 59 (14%) 74 (17%) 8 (2%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

30 (8%) 75 (20%) 51 (14%) 77 (21%) 124 (34%) 9 (2%) 

No 
information 
provided 

4 (57%) 1 (14%) 1 (14%) 1 (14%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 
1,087 
(29%) 

1,041 
(27%) 

426 (11%) 455 (12%) 726 (19%) 53 (1%) 

Note: 3,788 total respondents 

59 Page 90



    

     
 

     

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

      

     
 

 

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to governance? 
Table 26. Question 6 - Segmentation by age group 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

Under 18 8 (13%) 26 (41%) 10 (16%) 5 (8%) 13 (21%) 1 (2%) 

18-24 40 (29%) 33 (24%) 13 (9%) 16 (11%) 37 (26%) 1 (1%) 

25-34 58 (25%) 58 (25%) 19 (8%) 24 (10%) 69 (30%) 2 (1%) 

35-44 76 (20%) 102 (27%) 44 (12%) 39 (10%) 102 (27%) 12 (3%) 

45-54 97 (17%) 138 (24%) 82 (14%) 63 (11%) 175 (31%) 11 (2%) 

55-64 108 (14%) 197 (25%) 97 (12%) 115 (14%) 260 (33%) 17 (2%) 

65-74 121 (15%) 164 (20%) 78 (9%) 140 (17%) 312 (38%) 10 (1%) 

75+ 59 (14%) 107 (25%) 42 (10%) 71 (16%) 150 (35%) 5 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

10 (3%) 32 (9%) 25 (7%) 77 (21%) 214 (58%) 10 (3%) 

No 
information 
provided 

2 (29%) 1 (14%) 3 (43%) 0 (0%) 1 (14%) 0 (0%) 

Total 579 (15%) 858 (23%) 413 (11%) 550 (14%) 
1,333 
(35%) 

69 (2%) 

Note: 3,802 total respondents 

60 Page 91



    

 
  

  
    

  

     
  

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

  
 

    

   

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

 
  

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix E 

Segmentation by disability 
Note: The following tables provide an overview of the responses received to the six consultation 

questions, broken down by whether respondents had a disability or not. Responses from 
respondents who had not answered this demographic question are therefore not included in 
the tables below. Overviews of all responses can be found in Appendix A. 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 27. Question 1 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 683 (25%) 844 (31%) 336 (12%) 347 (13%) 482 (18%) 47 (2%) 

Disability 139 (22%) 199 (31%) 106 (16%) 79 (12%) 113 (18%) 9 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

49 (13%) 79 (20%) 51 (13%) 63 (16%) 131 (34%) 17 (4%) 

Total 871 (23%) 
1,122 
(30%) 

493 (13%) 489 (13%) 726 (19%) 73 (2%) 

Note: 3,774 total respondents 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to education and training? 
Table 28. Question 2 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 793 (29%) 820 (30%) 291 (11%) 343 (13%) 455 (17%) 33 (1%) 

Disability 164 (26%) 195 (30%) 84 (13%) 93 (14%) 99 (15%) 7 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

57 (15%) 85 (22%) 49 (12%) 66 (17%) 127 (32%) 8 (2%) 

Total 
1,014 
(27%) 

1,100 
(29%) 

424 (11%) 502 (13%) 681 (18%) 48 (1%) 

Note: 3,769 total respondents 

61 Page 92



    

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

 
 

     

   

     
 

    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

       

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 29. Question 3 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 908 (33%) 721 (26%) 238 (9%) 332 (12%) 512 (19%) 32 (1%) 

Disability 220 (34%) 156 (24%) 57 (9%) 84 (13%) 122 (19%) 5 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

64 (16%) 69 (18%) 36 (9%) 72 (18%) 139 (35%) 12 (3%) 

Total 
1,192 
(32%) 

946 (25%) 331 (9%) 488 (13%) 773 (20%) 49 (1%) 

Note: 3,779 total respondents 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to homes and communities? 
Table 30. Question 4 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 652 (24%) 754 (28%) 332 (12%) 396 (14%) 563 (21%) 36 (1%) 

Disability 125 (19%) 172 (27%) 96 (15%) 112 (17%) 130 (20%) 8 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

45 (11%) 59 (15%) 55 (14%) 75 (19%) 146 (37%) 12 (3%) 

Total 822 (22%) 985 (26%) 483 (13%) 583 (15%) 839 (22%) 56 (1%) 

Note: 3,768 total respondents 

62 Page 93



    

     
  
    

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

 
  

    

   

     
 

     

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

       

       

 
 

      

     
 

 

   

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to the environment? 
Table 31. Question 5 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 834 (31%) 776 (28%) 297 (11%) 306 (11%) 485 (18%) 34 (1%) 

Disability 183 (29%) 182 (28%) 76 (12%) 85 (13%) 108 (17%) 8 (1%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

65 (17%) 78 (20%) 49 (13%) 64 (16%) 124 (32%) 11 (3%) 

Total 
1,082 
(29%) 

1,036 
(28%) 

422 (11%) 455 (12%) 717 (19%) 53 (1%) 

Note: 3,765 total respondents 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating 
to governance? 
Table 32. Question 6 - Segmentation by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree, nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don't 
know 

No disability 446 (16%) 653 (24%) 319 (12%) 381 (14%) 896 (33%) 46 (2%) 

Disability 97 (15%) 148 (23%) 69 (11%) 92 (14%) 224 (35%) 14 (2%) 

Prefer not to 
say 

32 (8%) 52 (13%) 25 (6%) 73 (19%) 202 (51%) 10 (3%) 

Total 575 (15%) 853 (23%) 413 (11%) 546 (14%) 
1,322 
(35%) 

70 (2%) 

Note: 3,779 total respondents 

63 Page 94



    

  
 

   
   

  

     
   

    

    
  

  

     

     

      

    

   

      
 

    

    
  

  

    

    

    

    

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix F 

Cross-tabulations of Question 6 with other 
quantitative questions 
Note: The following tables only include responses received where respondents answered both 

relevant consultation questions used for each cross-tabulation. 

Question 6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance? 

Question 1: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
proposals relating to new jobs and business growth? 
Table 33. Question 1 - Response patterns 

Response Agree with Q1 Disagree with Q1 
Neutral/ Don't 
know for Q1 

Agree with Q6 1,435 (93%) 27 (2%) 82 (5%) 

Disagree with Q6 373 (19%) 1,230 (63%) 353 (18%) 

Neutral/ Don't know for Q6 320 (63%) 26 (5%) 160 (32%) 

Total 2,128 (53%) 1,283 (32%) 595 (15%) 

Note: 4,006 total respondents 

Question 2: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
proposals relating to education and training? 
Table 34. Question 2 - Response patterns 

Response Agree with Q2 Disagree with Q2 
Neutral/ Don't 
know for Q2 

Agree Q6 1,461 (95%) 30 (2%) 52 (3%) 

Disagree Q6 452 (23%) 1,189 (61%) 315 (16%) 

Neutral/ Don't know Q6 354 (70%) 23 (5%) 127 (25%) 

Total 2,267 (57%) 1,242 (31%) 494 (12%) 

Note: 4,003 total respondents 

64 Page 95



    

     
  

    

    
  

  

    

    

    

    

   

     
   

    

    
  

  

    

    

    

    

   

     
  

    

    
  

  

    

    

    

    

   

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Question 3: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
proposals relating to roads, buses and transport? 
Table 35. Question 3 - Response patterns 

Response Agree with Q3 Disagree with Q3 
Neutral/ Don't 
know for Q3 

Agree Q6 1,452 (94%) 40 (3%) 58 (4%) 

Disagree Q6 482 (25%) 1,242 (63%) 232 (12%) 

Neutral/ Don't know Q6 358 (71%) 35 (7%) 113 (22%) 

Total 2,292 (57%) 1,317 (33%) 403 (10%) 

Note: 4,012 total respondents 

Question 4: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
proposals relating to homes and communities? 
Table 36. Question 4 - Response patterns 

Response Agree with Q4 Disagree with Q4 
Neutral/ Don't 
know for Q4 

Agree Q6 1,349 (87%) 80 (5%) 115 (7%) 

Disagree Q6 340 (17%) 1,337 (68%) 282 (14%) 

Neutral/ Don't know Q6 254 (51%) 77 (15%) 171 (34%) 

Total 1,943 (49%) 1,494 (37%) 568 (14%) 

Note: 4,005 total respondents 

Question 5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
proposals relating to the environment? 
Table 37. Question 5 - Response patterns 

Response Agree with Q5 Disagree with Q5 
Neutral/ Don't 
know for Q5 

Agree Q6 1,451 (94%) 37 (2%) 59 (4%) 

Disagree Q6 484 (25%) 1,175 (60%) 295 (15%) 

Neutral/ Don't know Q6 337 (67%) 21 (4%) 143 (29%) 

Total 2,272 (57%) 1,233 (31%) 497 (12%) 

Note: 4,002 total respondents 

65 Page 96



    

  

 
   

 
    

     

     

      

     

   

 
    

 
    

 
  

    

       

      

      

 
 

    

     

   
  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix G 

Equalities impact assessment tables 

Disability 
Table 38. Equalities impact by disability 

Respondent 
type 

Positive Impact No Impact Negative Impact Don't know 

No disability 433 (16%) 1,226 (46%) 414 (16%) 564 (21%) 

Disability 121 (19%) 202 (32%) 177 (28%) 127 (20%) 

Prefer not to say 25 (7%) 121 (32%) 128 (34%) 99 (27%) 

Total 579 (16%) 1,549 (43%) 719 (20%) 790 (22%) 

Note: 3,637 total respondents 

Sexual orientation 
Table 39. Equalities impact by sexual orientation 

Respondent 
type 

Positive Impact No Impact Negative Impact Don't know 

Heterosexual or 
straight 

180 (7%) 1,631 (60%) 309 (11%) 611 (22%) 

Prefer not to say 12 (2%) 298 (47%) 140 (22%) 180 (29%) 

Gay or lesbian 19 (19%) 45 (45%) 23 (23%) 14 (14%) 

Bisexual 5 (6%) 31 (40%) 19 (24%) 23 (29%) 

No information 
provided 

0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 216 (6%) 2,005 (57%) 491 (14%) 828 (23%) 

Note: 3,540 total respondents 

66 Page 97



    

 
    

 
    

     

      

     

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

     

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Race 
Table 40. Equalities impact by race 

Respondent 
type 

Positive Impact No Impact Negative Impact Don't know 

White 306 (10%) 1,686 (54%) 473 (15%) 676 (22%) 

Prefer not to say 4 (1%) 157 (39%) 132 (33%) 107 (27%) 

Mixed 6 (15%) 16 (41%) 9 (23%) 8 (21%) 

Other ethnic 
group 

1 (4%) 8 (35%) 7 (30%) 7 (30%) 

Asian or Asian 
British 

1 (4%) 6 (26%) 6 (26%) 10 (43%) 

Black or Black 
British 

4 (22%) 4 (22%) 3 (17%) 7 (39%) 

No information 
provided 

0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

Total 322 (9%) 1,877 (52%) 630 (17%) 815 (22%) 

Note: 3,644 total respondents 

67 Page 98



    
 

 

  
  

   
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

  

  

   

  

   
   

 
  

  

  
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

  

 

       
 

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

Appendix H 

Greater Lincolnshire Devolution stakeholder 
engagement and publicity16 

The three councils jointly designed, implemented, and monitored a programme of consultation and 
promotion to: 

• encourage everyone’s participation, including those who are ‘seldom heard’ and groups 
identified in the equality impact analysis 

• provide information about the proposal to raise awareness and increase understanding to 
ensure respondents and their responses were informed 

An eight-week consultation took place between Monday 4 December 2023 and Monday 29 January 
2024. Consultation methods included: 

• a six-question online Likert survey with open text box and additional questions to assess reach 
and potential impact. There were over 14,000 visits to the project page and more than 4,000 
people completed the Let’s talk Lincolnshire survey 

• the same survey in printed form with a freepost return address was available in: 

o standard text 

o large print 

o easy read (simplified, pictorial version) 

o additionally, on request, it could also be translated into Braille and audio format as well 
as different languages for those without English as a first language 

• a dedicated telephone number and email address to request alternative formats, enable 
questions to be answered and the survey to be completed over the phone 

• letters of support and objection were received instead of/in addition to the survey 

• 22 public roadshows across the whole area in accessible locations on a mix of days (including 
two weekends), at different times of day and evening 

• Face-to-face and online briefings provided at 8 staff updates and 23 organisations and 
business networks 

• Face-to-face and online meetings/briefings with 31 community groups including seldom heard 
groups; these 31 events reached 360 people 

• Facebook Live, an online town/parish council forum and a home visit were also used as 
alternative mechanisms to extend reach and inclusion 

16 All information in this Appendix section was provided by Lincolnshire County Council, North-East Lincolnshire Council & North Lincolnshire 
Council 

68 Page 99



    

 

 
  

  

 

  

  

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

    

   
 

 
  

  

  

   

  

  
 

     
 

  

alma economics d Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal 

In addition, just prior to consultation commencing (within the 1-2 weeks between decision and 
consultation launch), the three residents magazines went to every household in Greater Lincolnshire 
(North Lincolnshire NewsDirect 88k, North-East Lincolnshire Every Household 75K, Lincolnshire 
County News 370k). The articles in these explained the concept of devolution and advised where to 
find more information once the consultation was launched. 

The multi-channel communications strategy, executed during consultation included: 

• attending events, groups, business networks and meetings to brief stakeholders 

• hard copy literature posted or handed out. This included (to nearest 25): 

o 2,500 posters 

o 5,450 postcards 

o 4,675 surveys 

o 1,950 executive summaries 

o 2,125 proposals 

• Paper copies provided to, displayed and available in the following locations: 

o town and parish councils 

o civic reception offices 

o libraries 

o community hubs 

o children’s and family centres 

o GP surgeries 

o staff in some businesses willing to take literature 

o Lincoln high street and Bourne town centre 

• each councils’ website hosted a link to the Let’s talk Lincolnshire project page 

• social media campaigns consisting 204 posts across five platforms resulted in 851 reactions, 
3077 comments and a combined reach of 578,054 

• audio, for example the talking newspaper and audio visual tools, for example online videos, 
were used to promote consultation and explain devolution 

• e-newsletters and mailshots direct to: 

o over 3,500 individuals 

o 350 town/parish councils 

o approximately 200 community groups 

• additional reach achieved as some voluntary sector organisations included coverage in their 
own electronic and print newsletters, for example LALC news and Foss Focus 

• 15 news releases across Greater Lincolnshire with 63 pieces of coverage across local 
television, radio, print and online media in Lincolnshire alone 

69 Page 100



    

 

 
 
 

 

  
 

  

       
       

Linked(m alma economics 

Consultation analysis on the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Proposal

70 

Copyright © 2024 All rights reserved 
Company Number 09391354, VAT Number GB208923405, Registered in England and Wales 

company/alma-economics almaeconomics 

+44 20 8133 3192  43 Tanner Street, SE1 3PL, London, UK 
+30 21 2104 7902  Ifigenias 9, 14231, Athens, GR 

Page 101

https://www.linkedin.com/company/alma-economics
https://twitter.com/almaeconomics


 
 
 
 

Full Council  

8 April 2024 

 

     
Subject:  Neighbourhood Plan Reviews – Scheme of Officer Delegation  

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Planning Regeneration and 
Communities  

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Katie Storr 
Democratic and Elections Team Manager  
Katie.storr@west-lindsey.gov.uk  

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

  
To update the Officer Delegation Scheme in 
respect of Neighbourhood Planning, in particular 
responsibilities in relation to Neighbourhood Plan 
Reviews.  

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
(a) That Members note the varying levels of Neighbourhood Plan 

Reviews which can be undertaken; 
 
(b) That the Director of Planning, Regeneration and Communities be 

granted delegated Authority to approve minor (non-material) 
modifications to Neighbourhood Plans following a review and this 
be added to the Scheme of Officer Delegation;  

 
(c) That Full Council continue to “make” all Neighbourhood Plans 

following a Neighbourhood Plan review which is deemed by the 
Examiner to contain material modifications; and  

 
(d) Where a Neighbourhood Plan Review results in a referendum, the 

Neighbourhood Planning Group / Parish Council will be invited to 
present their Plan to Full Council as they were at its first 
“making”. 

 
 

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 10b

mailto:Katie.storr@west-lindsey.gov.uk


IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal:  

This work is a duty under the Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning 
Regulations 2012. Regulation 18A of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 
2012, stipulates that a neighbourhood plan must be made (adopted) within 8 
weeks of the referendum. 

 

 

Financial : 

For every neighbourhood plan (NP) successful at examination the Council 
receives a grant of £20k from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities to help support its neighbourhood planning role in the district 

 

Staffing :  

Internal resources are in place to deal with neighbourhood planning. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

All Neighbourhood Plans are examined under the Neighbourhood Planning 
Regulations for any issues relating to equality and diversity. 

 

Data Protection Implications : 

n/a 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: 

n/a 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

n/a 

 

Health Implications: 

n/a 

 

Page 103



Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of this 
report : 

Neighbourhood Plan and Priorities Report to Prosperous Communities 
Committee – October 2017 – website  

Establishing governance procedures for Neighbourhood Planning – 
Prosperous Communities 3 February 2015 – website  

 

Risk Assessment :   

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes x  No   

Page 104



1 Background and Introduction  
 
1.1 West Lindsey has made many Neighbourhood Plans (NPs) which form 

part of the statutory development plan within the Central Lincolnshire 
Local Plan.  

 
1.2 National planning policy requires a Local Plan to be reviewed every five 

years. There is no similar requirement for NPs to be reviewed on a 
regular basis. However, NP reviews are necessary when supporting 
text and policies become out of date or where other material 
considerations start to be given greater weight in planning decisions.  

 
1.3 There is an Officer Scheme of Delegation in Place in respect of 

Neighbourhood Planning which was last updated 2017.  However, the 
Scheme of Delegation does not deal with responsibilities in respect of 
Neighbourhood Plan Reviews. 

 
1.4 As West Lindsey now has number of reviews underway, some minor 

some major, it is considered pertinent to ensure relevant delegations 
are in place before these reviews conclude.   

 
 
2 Types of Review  
 
2.1 Guidance on updating NPs is given in national planning practice 

guidance, which was revised in 2019, at:  
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2 
 
2.2 There are 3 different types of review which can be made to a NP, 
 depending on the degree of modifications included. 
 

1. Minor (non-material) modifications to a NP are those which 

would not materially affect the policies in the NP. These may 

include correcting errors and updating references to supporting 

documents. 

 
Because these changes are minor in nature, no consultation needs to be 
undertaken and there is no requirement for an examination, referendum, or 
remaking of the NP. A non-material review can be agreed between the 
qualifying body (parish council) and local planning authority (WLDC) who 
would issue a decision letter and publish the reviewed NP with its minor 
modifications. As this would not result in the remaking of the NP, the made 
date of the original NP would still apply. 
 

2.  Material modifications to a NP which do not change the nature 
of the NP and would require examination but not a referendum. 
This might, for example, entail the addition of a design code that 
builds on a pre-existing design policy, or the addition of a site or 
sites which, subject to the decision of the independent examiner, 
are not so significant or substantial as to change the nature of the 
NP. 

 
Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2


3.  Material modifications which do change the nature of the NP 
would require examination and a referendum. This might, for 
example, involve allocating significant new sites for development. 

 
2.3 The process for NP reviews involving material modifications is 

essentially the same as used for original NPs, but a referendum may not 
be required (option 2 above). 

  
2.4 As part of a NP’s examination, it will be for the independent examiner to 

make the final decision as to whether the material modifications would 
require a referendum, if seen as substantial, or the NP could just move 
to be being made by the local planning authority within a 5-week period. 

 
2.5 In making their decision, the examiner will consider the nature of the 

existing NP, alongside representations and the statements on the matter 
made by the qualifying body and the local planning authority. 

 
3 Delegations Requested 
 
3.1 It is requested that the Director of Planning, Regeneration and 

Communities be granted delegated authority to deal with all Plan reviews 
that fall under Category 1.  

 
3.2 Plan Reviews which fall into Category 2 or 3 will still be the responsibility 

of Full Council to make, given they are in effect a new Plan.  
 
3.3 Where a review falls within Category 3 – representatives from the 

Neighbourhood Planning Group/ Parish Council will be invited to present 
their Plan, as they currently are at the first making.  

 

Page 106


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 council matters arising
	10a Outcome of the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Deal Consultation Exercise
	Appendix 1 Outcome of the Greater Lincolnshire Devolution Deal Consultation Exercise
	Executive summary
	Consultation on Greater Lincolnshire’s Devolution Proposal
	Summary of respondent characteristics
	Summary of consultation responses
	New jobs and business growth
	Education and training
	Roads, buses and transport
	Homes and communities
	Environment
	Governance
	Additional themes


	Research approach
	Overview of responses received
	Methodology
	Limitations
	New jobs and business growth
	Consultation question 1
	Quantitative insights
	Qualitative insights
	Calls for strengthening industrial and agricultural capabilities
	Address risk of artificial intelligence on low- and medium-skilled jobs
	Calls for increased support for local businesses
	Develop all-year tourist options to boost economic activity

	Education and training
	Consultation question 2
	Quantitative insights
	Qualitative insights
	Reduce emphasis on work-focused curriculums
	Support for increased provision of career information, advice and guidance for adults and young people
	Support for increased skills development for young people
	Support for affordable adult education provision
	Support for increasing Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) provision12F

	Roads, buses and transport
	Consultation question 3
	Quantitative insights
	Qualitative insights
	Calls for affordable, reliable, and expanded public transport within Lincolnshire
	Calls for road improvements and maintenance
	Support for cycle lane improvements and maintenance
	Support for improved transport links with other UK cities
	Calls for greater focus on green transport solutions

	Homes and communities
	Consultation question 4
	Quantitative insights
	Qualitative insights
	Support for town centre regeneration
	Calls for greater focus on developing public infrastructure and amenities
	Address social housing backlog
	Prioritise repurposing old properties and empty buildings

	Environment
	Consultation question 5
	Quantitative insights
	Qualitative insights
	Calls for increased use of renewable energy
	Calls for increased measures on climate change adaption and mitigation
	Calls for increased conservation measures
	Calls for protecting greenfield sites from development

	Governance
	Consultation question 6
	Quantitative insights
	Response patterns

	Qualitative insights
	Support for one centralised authority
	Specific suggestions regarding the mayor
	Specific suggestions regarding elected officials

	Additional themes
	Consultation question 7
	Themes of support
	Proposal will be beneficial for Lincolnshire’s development
	Support for increased local control over local matters
	Opportunity for future prosperity
	Strengthen Lincolnshire’s regional identity
	Devolution seen to have worked well elsewhere


	Themes of suggestions
	Suggestions for the implementation of the proposal
	Call for greater oversight and transparency
	Calls for quality of CCA representatives to be monitored
	Calls for equal regional representation within the CCA

	Calls for a public vote
	Support for a referendum
	Proposal considered ‘undemocratic’

	Health and social care suggested as an additional area of focus13F
	Address shortage of General Practitioners (GPs) and dentists
	Address shortage of hospitals and urgent treatment centres
	Calls for improved adult social care provision


	Themes of concerns
	Concerns that the proposal introduces additional administrative burdens
	Concerns regarding additional bureaucracy and layers of governance
	Mayor perceived as unnecessary
	Existing funding perceived as not well spent
	Proposal aims perceived as already achievable

	Concerns about implementation costs of the proposal
	Concerns about how the proposal will be funded
	Support for funding to be given directly to local councils instead
	Concerns that aspects of the proposal are a ‘waste of money’


	Concern that devolution benefits will be felt unequally across Greater Lincolnshire
	Concerns around funding being unequally distributed
	Concerns that Lincolnshire is too large and diverse for devolution
	Concerns it weakens power of local government

	Doubts about the proposal achieving its aims
	Proposed investment considered insufficient
	Devolution benefits perceived as unclear


	Equalities impact assessment
	Perceived impact by protected characteristic
	Patterns by respondent characteristics
	Analysis of open text responses

	Appendix A
	Overview of responses by question
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance?

	Appendix B
	Segmentation by respondent type
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance?

	Appendix C
	Segmentation by local authority area
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance?

	Appendix D
	Segmentation by age group
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance?

	Appendix E
	Segmentation by disability
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to governance?

	Appendix F
	Cross-tabulations of Question 6 with other quantitative questions
	Question 1: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to new jobs and business growth?
	Question 2: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to education and training?
	Question 3: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to roads, buses and transport?
	Question 4: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to homes and communities?
	Question 5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals relating to the environment?

	Appendix G
	Equalities impact assessment tables
	Disability
	Sexual orientation
	Race

	Appendix H
	Greater Lincolnshire Devolution stakeholder engagement and publicity15F


	10b Neighbourhood Plan Reviews - Scheme of Officer Delegation



